
Agenda compiled by:
Tel No:
Governance Services
Civic Hall
LEEDS LS1 1UR

John Grieve
37 88662

Produced on Recycled Paper
A

LICENSING COMMITTEE

MEETING TO BE HELD IN CIVIC HALL, LEEDS ON

TUESDAY, 4TH JULY, 2017 AT 10.00 AM

MEMBERSHIP

N Buckley Alwoodley;
R Downes Otley and Yeadon;
J Dunn Ardsley and Robin Hood;
B Flynn Adel and Wharfedale;
B Gettings Morley North;
M Harland Kippax and Methley;
G Hyde Killingbeck and Seacroft;
A Khan Burmantofts and Richmond Hill;
B Selby (Chair) Killingbeck and Seacroft;
C Townsley Horsforth;
G Wilkinson Wetherby;
A Garthwaite Headingley;
K Groves Middleton Park;
S McKenna Garforth and Swillington;
J Pryor Headingley;

Public Document Pack



B

A G E N D A

Item
No

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No

1  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS

To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded)

(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting)

2  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

1 To highlight reports or appendices which 
officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report.

2 To consider whether or not to accept the 
officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information.

3 If so, to formally pass the following 
resolution:-

RESOLVED – That the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of those parts of the agenda 
designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information



C

3  LATE ITEMS

To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration

(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes)

4  DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
INTERESTS

To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31 
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13 -16 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct.

5  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

6  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

To approve the minutes of the previous meeting 
held on 26th May 2017.

(Copy attached)

1 - 6

7  MATTERS ARISING

To consider any matters arising from the Minutes 
(If any)

Item
No

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No



D

8  OLEV GRANTS FOR ELECTRIC VEHICLE 
CHARGE POINTS

To consider a report by the Director of Resources 
and Housing which provides an update on the 
award that has been made by OLEV to support the 
delivery of EV Charge points in the West Yorkshire 
region. 

The report does not intend to cover aspects of 
incentives to the trade to encourage the uptake of 
Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV), or address 
the work being undertaken to review licensing or 
vehicle conditions. Wider discussion with the trade 
and regional licensing groups is required as part of 
that process. 

(Report attached)

7 - 12

9  PROPOSED PROJECT TO HARMONISE TAXI & 
PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE AND DRIVER 
CONDITIONS ACROSS WEST YORKSHIRE

To consider a report by the Head of Elections, 
Licensing and Registration which sets out details of 
a project to harmonise Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle 
and Driver Conditions across West Yorkshire. 

(Report attached)

13 - 
20

10 TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING 
TRAINING REVIEW - RESPONSES TO 
CONSULTATION

To consider a report by the Head of Elections, 
Licensing and Registration which sets out the 
responses received to the consultation on driver 
training and to consider the next steps of the 
review by exploring the various options identified 
within the report.

(Report attached)

21 - 
54

Item
No

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No



E

11 LICENSING COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME

To note the contents of the Licensing Committee 
Work Programme for 2017/18.

(Report attached)

55 - 
60

12 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

To note that the next meeting will take place on 
Tuesday 1st August 2017 at 10.00am in the Civic 
Hall, Leeds. 

Third Party Recording 

Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to 
see or hear the proceedings either as they take place (or later) and 
to enable the reporting of those proceedings.  A copy of the 
recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front 
of this agenda.

Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice

a) Any published recording should be accompanied by a 
statement of when and where the recording was made, the 
context of the discussion that took place, and a clear 
identification of the main speakers and their role or title.

b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a 
way that could lead to misinterpretation or 
misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments made 
by attendees. In particular there should be no internal 
editing of published extracts; recordings may start at any 
point and end at any point but the material between those 
points must be complete.

Item
No

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Tuesday, 4th July, 2017

Licensing Committee

Friday, 26th May, 2017

PRESENT: Councillor B Selby in the Chair

Councillors R Downes, J Dunn, B Flynn, 
M Harland, G Hyde, A Khan, C Townsley, 
G Wilkinson, A Garthwaite and J Pryor

1 Retirement of Des Broster, Section Head Taxi and Private Hire Licensing
 
The Chair referred to the recent retirement of Des Broster, Section Head, Taxi and 
Private Hire Licensing. The Chair said Des had overseen the Licensing function for 
the city over the past 15 years, establishing a close working relationship with 
Members of the Licensing Committee, Council Officers and representatives from the 
taxi trade. 

In paying tribute the Chair said Des was an honest, reliable officer and valued the 
advice he provided. Referring to the issue of safeguarding, the Chair said Des’s 
expertise and focus had provided the City of Leeds with the best safeguarding 
procedures and policies in the Country; he had also contributed at a National level.

Members past and present joined the Chair in offering their best wishes to Des on a 
long and happy retirement and wished him well in his future endeavours.

2 Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents
 
There were no appeals against the refusal of inspection of documents.

3 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
 
There were no late items identified where it was considered necessary to exclude 
the press or public from the meeting due to the nature of the business to be 
considered.

4 Late Items 
There were no late items of business.

5 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests made at the meeting.

6 Apologies for Absence
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors: N Buckley, B Gettings and S 
McKenna.

7 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Tuesday, 4th July, 2017

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 3rd April 2017, were 
accepted as a true and correct record.

8 Matters Arising
 
There were no issues raised under Matters Arising.

9 Licensing Committee - Annual Governance Arrangements
 
The City Solicitor submitted a report seeking to establish the governance 
arrangements for the Licensing Committee for the 2017/18 Municipal Year, namely:

 To note the terms of reference of the Licensing Committee as agreed at 
the annual Council meeting on 25th May 2017.

 To appoint the five Licensing Sub-Committees for the 2017/18 Municipal 
year.

 To approve the Membership of each Sub Committee as set out in 
Appendix 2 of the submitted report

 To approve terms of reference for the Licensing Sub-Committees as set 
out in Appendix 3 of the submitted report.

 To approve the delegation of licensing functions to the Director of 
Communities and Environment as set out in Appendix 4 of the submitted 
report.

Appended to the report were copies of the following documents:

 Licensing Committee Terms of Reference (Appendix 1 refers)
 Membership of each Licensing Sub Committee (Appendix 2 refers)
 Licensing Sub Committee Terms of Reference (Appendix 3 refers)
 The delegation of Licensing functions to the Director of Communities and 

Environment (Appendix 4 refers)

The Section Head, Legal Services, presented the report and responded to Members 
questions and queries 

Detailed discussion ensued on the contents of the report which included:

 Membership of each Licensing Sub Committee
 Amendments to the Licensing Sub Committees Terms of Reference

RESOLVED – 

(i) To note the terms of reference of the Licensing Committee as 
approved by full Council on 19th May 2016 as shown at Appendix 1 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Tuesday, 4th July, 2017

(ii) That the five Licensing Sub-Committees hearings required under the 
2003 and 2005 Acts be established with the following Memberships:

A Councillors: Downes, Gettings and Pryor
B Councillors: Buckley, Dunn, and Groves
C Councillors: Hyde, S McKenna and Townsley
D Councillors: Flynn Garthwaite and Selby
E Councillors: Harland, Khan and Wilkinson

(iii) That approval be given to the terms of reference for the Licensing Sub-
Committees as set out in Appendix 3 of the report

(iv) To approve the delegation of Licensing functions to the Director of 
Communities and Environment as shown in Appendix 4 of the report.

10 Licensing Procedure Rules, The Code of Practice for Determining 
Licensing Matters and Prescribed Licensing Training 

The City Solicitor submitted a report which set out draft procedure rules relating to 
hearings and other meetings of the Licensing Committee and sub-committees and 
sought the approval of Members to the adoption of these procedure rules. 

The report also requested consideration of the Code of Practice for the 
Determination of Licensing Matters and sought Members approval and to follow the 
Code.

Member’s attention was also directed to the arrangements for the prescribed 
Member Training on licensing under the provisions of Article 8A of the constitution 
and the Code of Practice.

With reference to section 7 of the Code of Practice and the use of site visits, the 
Chair sought the views of Members on the use of site visits when determining 
applications.

It was the general view of Members that site visits be undertaken when it was 
considered appropriate   

RESOLVED – 

(i) That the Licensing Procedure Rules as set out as Appendix 1 
of the report be approved 

(ii) To approve and follow the contents of the Code of Practice for 
the Determination of Licensing Matters as set out in Appendix 2 
of the submitted report 

(iii) To note the arrangements for the prescribed training 
programme.

Page 3



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Tuesday, 4th July, 2017

(iv) That site visits be undertaken when it was considered 
appropriate  

(v)  That a copy of “the Code of Practice for the determination of 
Licensing Matters” be circulated to all Members of Council for 
information

11 Update on Shisha Smoking - Enforcement Activity
 
The Director of Communities and Environment submitted a report which provided an 
update on the on-going work to tackle Shisha Smoking in the city and follows on 
from previous reports provided to this Committee.

 Ruth Turner, Team Manager, Health and Safety Team, Environmental Health 
presented the report.

Issues highlighted from the report included the following:

 The number of complaints received in relation to shisha smoking is low
 Of the 5 businesses visited; 1 case progressed to the Magistrates Court and 

the business owner was found guilty
 Alternative enforcement action was taken on 2 occasions
 Historically, the fines levied for offenders has been relatively low which 

provides no deterrent to business operators
 The Council and its partners continue to educate the community about the 

dangers of shisha smoking 

In response to Members comments and questions, the following was discussed:

Members welcomed the report commenting that shisha smoking raised a number of 
concerns including; health implications and safeguarding issues, continued 
enforcement activities together with education programmes was also important

The Chair suggested that more control may be achieved by the introduction of new 
legislation amending the Planning or Licensing Laws 

RESOLVED – 

(i) That the contents of the report be noted

(ii) That a further update be provided to the Committee in 6 months- time 
(November)                                      
 

(iii) That following the forthcoming General Election, a letter from the Chair, 
be sent, on behalf of the Committee, to all Leeds MP’s seeking their 
support in lobbying the appropriate Ministers in amending the law to 
require the licensing of Shisha Smoking Premises.

12 Licensing Committee Work Programme
 

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Tuesday, 4th July, 2017

Members considered the contents of the Licensing Committee Work Programme for 
2017/18.

The Chair referred to night time patrols of the City Centre, and requested if 
arrangements could be made for Members, in particular new Members to the 
Committee, to participate in night time patrols of the City Centre over the summer 
months.

Officers reported that joint patrols with the Police were currently not available, 
however, an alternative option would be for Members to join Taxi and Entertainment 
Officers on enforcement operations.  

RESOLVED – 

(i) To approve the contents of the Licensing Committee Work Programme 
for 2017/18

(ii) That arrangements be made for Members to join officers on night time 
patrols of the City Centre

13 Date and Time of Next Meeting 

RESOLVED – To note that the next meeting will take place on Tuesday, 4th July 
2017 at 10.00am in the Civic Hall, Leeds.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of    Director of Resources and Housing

Report to    Licensing Committee

Date:           7 June 2017

Subject:       OLEV Grants for Electric Vehicle Charge Points

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues
1. West Yorkshire Combined Authorities co-ordinated a regional application for 

funding to the Office for Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) Clean Taxi Scheme in 
order to secure funding to support the transition of taxi and private hire fleets to 
ultra-low emission vehicles (ULEVs). 

2. The application was successful; funding of circa £1.9m will be available to deliver 
a network of electric vehicle charge points across the West Yorkshire region for 
use by the Taxi and Private Hire trade.

Recommendations
It is recommended that the committee note;

1. The information regarding West Yorkshire Combined Authorities (WYCA) 
securing and management of the OLEV grant.  

2. The outline plans for delivery of Electric Vehicle (EV) Charge Points across the 
region. 

3.   The opportunity for operators to provide expressions of interest in working with 
WYCA to secure potential grants installation of EV Charge Points for use by 
Private Hire and Taxi vehicles. 

Report author:   Andrew Hickford
Tel:  37 85846

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



Purpose of this report
1.1 This purpose of this report is to update the committee on the award that has 

been made by OLEV to support the delivery of EV Charge points in the West 
Yorkshire region. The Committee were provided with information regarding the 
planned application to OLEV in July 2016 and February 2017 prior to the award 
being made.  

1.2 This update report does not intend to cover aspects of incentives to the trade to 
encourage the uptake of Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV), or address the 
work being undertaken to review licensing or vehicle conditions. Wider discussion 
with the trade and regional licensing groups is required as part of this process. 

1.3 A further report that will outline proposals to encourage ULEV uptake will be 
tabled at a later date. 

1. Background information
 

1.1 West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) has secured £1.98m of Government 
capital funding to support an increase in ultra-low emission electric taxi and private 
hire operation on local roads.

1.2 Eighty-eight dedicated taxi and private hire charge points will be installed at key 
public transport and taxi operation sites across West Yorkshire, thanks to the 
Combined Authority’s successful bid to the Office for Low Emission Vehicle’s Ultra-
Low Emission Vehicle (ULEV) Taxi Scheme. 

1.3 There may be opportunities for operators to use the grant funding towards the 
installation of dedicated fast / rapid charge points at their bases/depots, please 
contact XXX if you would like further details. 

2 Main issues 

2.1 Delivery of Charge Points in West Yorkshire

2.2 WYCA will receive funding in line with the prescribed ‘low uptake scenario’ of 
£1.9m capital funding to deliver 88 charge points across West Yorkshire – OLEV 
have indicated that this is proposed to be through 66 rapid charge points and 22 
fast chargers (these may be upgraded to rapid chargers). £495,000 of this needs 
to be delivered in 2017/18, £495,000 in 2018/19 and the balance of £990,000 in 
2019/20. 

2.2.1 Capital funding is for 75% of the costs towards the unit and installation. There is 
a 25% match expectation that has been identified in the LTP IP3 programme, 
that will support some of the required 25% cost for charge point installations. 

2.2.2 The application for funding has been awarded funding on the basis of the below 
table;

Page 8



Area 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 Total

Leeds £186,181 £186,181 £372,363 £744,745

West 
Yorkshire 

£495,000 £495,000 £990,000 £1,980,000

2.2.3 The funding (if approved by OLEV) will support delivery of a charge point 
infrastructure as below;

Area Fast 
Chargers

Rapid 
Chargers

Total Funding

Leeds 8 25 33 £744,745

West 
Yorkshire

22 66 88 £1,980,000

2.2.4 Informal dialogue with charge point suppliers has identified that the 25% match 
could potentially be covered by an appointed private investor/operator – rather 
than LTP - however this must be tested during the procurement process that will 
be led by WYCA. 

2.2.5 Delivery is expected over a 3 year programme from 2017/18-2019/20. OLEV has 
indicated it would like to see as much advanced delivery as possible. There may 
be a 2nd round of funding available in 18/19 depending on outputs from this initial 
delivery period.

2.2.6 Key sites for taxi charge points identified in the application included Leeds Train 
Station, Bradford Forster Square and numerous bus stations/interchange 
locations where taxi/private hire vehicles frequent. There is also potential to 
provide funding towards installation of charge points at private operators depots 
in line with prescribed criteria being met. Operators who have a potential interest 
in this are encourage to engage with XXXXX.

2.2.7 WYCA and the 5 districts undertook a technical study in 2016 to ensure the 
deliverability of up to 70 charge points (public and/or taxi) at local authority 

Page 9



owned sites across West Yorkshire to ensure scheme deliverability and detail 
upgrade costs. This was provided as supporting evidence to the application and 
has been provided to potential suppliers during informal dialogue. Additional sites 
will further be identified in consultation with the trade, landowners, charge point 
suppliers and other stakeholders. 

2.2.8 Several private hire and taxi operators across West Yorkshire provided letters of 
support for this scheme. There will be a requirement for significant engagement 
and dialogue with the taxi/private hire industry to ensure the expected outcomes 
are realised. WYCA will be working with district licensing services to ensure 
engagement across the trade is delivered effectively. 

2.2.9 It was agreed at WYCA Leadership Team in December 2016 that if successful, 
WYCA would lead on procurement and delivery of this charge point project. A 
Senior Responsible Office and Project Manager have been identified within 
WYCA with Districts appointing representatives to the Project Board. 

2.2.10 There is also potential for limited revenue to be generated by the scheme for 
WYCA however this should not be considered realistic in the early years of 
delivery.  Future revenue is anticipated to be utilised in extending the scope of 
the scheme, or maintenance of the existing charge point estate. 

2.3 Engagement Plans 

2.3.1 Leeds City Council will lead on engagement and communications with the trade, 
with plans for a launch event to be determined. The intention is to provide 
information on EV charge points aligned to information from the trade on electric 
vehicles, their use and the benefits economically and environmentally from their 
adoption. The project team will liaise with industry experts to deliver this event 
with licensing services fully involved in the planning and the promotion of the 
event. Information will also be provided on the potential funding that may be 
made available to operators for installation of charge points for fleet use. 

2.4 Further Applications for funding

2.3.1 West Yorkshire Combined Authorities co-ordinated the application for funding to 
the Office for Low Emission vehicles. This West Yorkshire ULEV Taxi Scheme 
bid is proposed to transform taxi and private hire operations in West Yorkshire 
through a comprehensive package of investment in an electric vehicle charge 
network. OLEV have indicated that there may be further funding available in 
2018 should WYCA be able to evidence the deliverability of the current scheme. 

2.3.2 Leeds City Council has continued to seek separate funding to support the uptake 
of low emission vehicles in the taxi and private hire trade. Any successful budget 
that is secured will be reported to the committee in a future paper. 

2.4 Additional Actions

Page 10



2.4.1 Collectively the five authorities have considered that ULEV uptake in the taxi and 
private hire sector can further be encouraged through licensing and policy 
incentives. A report will be submitted in respect of this work stream separately. 

3 Corporate Considerations

3.1 Consultation and Engagement 

3.1.1 Consultation with the trade on delivery proposals will be carried out in line with any 
recommendations made by the committee and in line with existing arrangements. 

3.1.2 Engagement with the trade via existing forums will also be maintained to ensure that 
EV Charge Point developments, implementation plans and consultation are 
ongoing. 

3.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

3.2.1 Equality and Cohesion Screening Assessments are carried out on the policies 
agreed at Licensing Committee which are used to inform decision making.  

4 Council policies and City Priorities

4.1 The identification of areas of poor air quality and the introduction of AQMA’s 
contributes to the Council’s cutting carbon and improving air quality breakthrough 
project. Key drivers for the breakthrough project include a reduction in energy 
consumption and emissions and the promotion and encouragement of energy 
efficiency. The introduction of EV charge points will support a reduction in vehicle 
emissions and the adoption of more fuel efficient, less polluting vehicles. 

4.2 The ability to identify and target those areas of most concern is in line with the 
Council’s ambition to reduce health inequalities across Leeds. There is a need to 
reduce air pollution-related risks for all. However, it is also the case that greater 
health gains can result from targeting those areas and people most at risk.

5. Resources and value for money 
5.1 Delivery of the WYCA EV Charge Point project is funded by central government 

grant via the Office for low Emission Vehicles. Procurements will be open and 
transparent and will conform to WYCA Financial Processing Regulations to 
ensure value is delivered. 

6. Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In
6.1 Potential State Aid implications of the delivery of grants for installation of EV 

charge points are being assessed, with the risk having been identified as low. 
WYCA will take legal advice to ensure that any State Aid risk is robustly 
assessed and mitigated. 

6.2          This report is not subject to call in or publication.

Page 11



7. Risk Management
7.1 The Project Manager and Project Board for the project will assess, identify and 

manage risks through the lifecycle of the EV charge point delivery project. 

8. Conclusions
8.1 The Committee will be advised on the outcome of any future funding applications. 
8.2 The Committee will be updated on the progress of EV charge point installations. 

8.3 The Committees opinions are welcomed in terms of engagement and 
communication with the trade to support delivery of charge points in the most 
appropriate, feasible and efficient way. 

9. Recommendations
9.1 It is recommended that the committee note;

1. The information regarding West Yorkshire Combined Authorities (WYCA) 
securing and management of the OLEV grant.  

2. The outline plans for delivery of Electric Vehicle (EV) Charge Points 
across the region. 

3.   The opportunity for operators to provide expressions of interest in working 
with WYCA to secure potential grants installation of EV Charge Points for 
use by Private Hire and Taxi vehicles. 

10. Background documents 

None 

Page 12



Report of    Head of Elections, Licensing and Registration

Report to    Licensing Committee

Date:           4 July 2017

Subject:       Proposed project to harmonise taxi & private hire vehicle and driver 
conditions across West Yorkshire

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues
1 This report updates Licensing Committee on the proposals to align (‘harmonise’) taxi 

and private hire vehicle and driver conditions across West Yorkshire and City of York 
(referred to as WY&Y in this report), to improve passenger safety and respond to the 
likely changes in air quality standards arising from Clean Air Zones.

2 The council has made good progress in improving the safety of the travelling public in 
Leeds.  However, because of taxi and private hire issues which span local authority 
borders, we will only make further improvements if we work more closely with 
neighbouring authorities.  We also have much to gain on delivering an effective 
Clean Air Zone if we work more closely with neighbouring authorities.

3 The officers and members at the WY&Y licensing group have identified a range of 
priorities, which if we can deliver them, will improve the safety of the travelling public, 
and simplify council policy and conditions for our Licensing Committee and its 
equivalents in neighbouring authorities.

4 Officers from the authorities are developing a project for approval by the chairs of the 
respective WY&Y Licensing Committees (or equivalents), and with the support of the 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority.  

5 If approved, the proposed changes would align the following policies across the 
different authorities:
 CCTV in vehicles;

 Convictions policy;

Report author:  Andrew White
Tel:  3781562

Page 13

Agenda Item 9



 Vehicle specifications (especially vehicle emissions);

 Driver training;

 Information sharing between authorities; and

 Effective cross-border enforcement.

Recommendations
1. That Members note the information in this report, and endorse  the way forward.

2.  To seek Members’ support for the priority areas identified for harmonising policies 
and conditions. 

1 Purpose of this report
1.1 To inform Members of the project on vehicle and driver policy harmonisation 

being developed by the heads of the respective Licensing Committees (or 
equivalents), and with the support of the West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
(WYCA).,  Whilst the WYCA itself does not have responsibility for licensing, it is 
providing support to the WY&Y authorities who do for their individual areas. 

2 Background information
2.1 Since 2015, officers from the five West Yorkshire Taxi and Private Hire Licensing 

teams and York, and the chairs of the Licensing Committees (or equivalents) 
have met to collaborate and share good practice on licensing and enforcement.  

2.2 The focus of the officers and members groups has been to maintain and improve 
passenger safety, particularly in light of the safeguarding scandals in other towns 
and cities in the UK. 

2.3 Since 2015, Leeds City Council has strengthened its own taxi and private hire 
licensing functions and has introduced new policies, including a strengthened 
convictions criteria policy and a safeguarding training requirement for all drivers 
and operators.  The neighbouring authorities have also taken steps to improve or 
update their policies and conditions.

2.4 However, the WY&Y taxi and private hire licensing group have identified that, 
owing to the prevalence of cross-border working, authorities cannot work in 
isolation.  The group have agreed that the collaboration approach would be more 
effective if the authorities were to undertake a project to align their policies and 
conditions, especially relating to passenger safety and vehicle emissions. 

3 Main issues
Priorities for harmonisation

3.1 The West Yorkshire & York (WY&Y) group has identified six areas where the 
authorities could or should align their policies so that the conditions are the 
same.

Page 14



 CCTV in vehicles;

 Convictions policy;

 Vehicle specifications (especially vehicle emissions);

 Driver training;

 Information sharing between authorities; and

 Effective cross-border enforcement.
The table below summarises the six area and indicates the opportunities for the 
WY&Y group to gain by aligning better the relevant policies and conditions.

Opportunities for harmonisation

CCTV in 
vehicles

Some WY&Y authorities (including Leeds) currently promote or subsidise CCTV in vehicles.  
No WY&Y authorities have made CCTV in vehicles mandatory, although 9 authorities, 
including Rotherham, have done so.

Taxi and private hire trade is broadly supportive of CCTV – reduces insurance premiums, 
reduce bad behaviour, but does come at a cost.

Significant data protection implications for authorities as Data Controllers.

Opportunity to engage and consult with the trade across WY&Y, and to develop 
common, simple rules for CCTV, common list of approved installers.

Convictions 
policy

Some WY&Y authorities (including Leeds) currently have a convictions policy in place, 
providing guidance to officers/members making decisions about whether to give licences to 
people who have convictions.

Trade is critical that Leeds has a strong line on convictions, but drivers with convictions and 
refused by Leeds often get licenses to work from other authorities.

Opportunity for all WY&Y authorities to adopt the same convictions policy.

Vehicle 
specifications 

All WY&Y authorities currently have conditions on vehicle livery, to clearly indicate vehicles 
as taxis or private hire, although Wakefield does not require door livery.

Opportunity for all WY&Y authorities to adopt the same livery policy.

WY&Y authorities have different conditions on the age of vehicles, size of engine, and 
vehicle emissions.

Energy Saving Trust report: the Leeds fleet is 87% diesel, 7% electric/hybrid, 6% petrol, 1% 
gas and Gas Bi-Fuel.  4% of the diesel fleet is Clean Air Zone compliant (Euro 6) diesel.  
100% of the petrol fleet is Clean Air Zone compliant (Euro 4) petrol.

Trade is currently aware that Leeds will have a Clean Air Zone, and will provide charging 
points for electric/hybrid vehicles.  Trade likely to be concerned about removal of age 
extensions for older diesels.

Opportunity to engage and consult with the trade across WY&Y, and to develop 
common approach to reducing the number of older diesels across the region, 
encourage electric, hybrid and other low emission vehicles across the region.

Driver 
training

WY&Y authorities provide driver training differently.  York does not provide safeguarding 
training.  Bradford does not require literacy and numeracy training.  

Trade is critical that drivers often have a wait of 6-8 weeks to get on a Leeds training 
course.  

Trade is critical that authorities have different driver training, not transferable from one 
authority to another.

Opportunity for all WY&Y authorities to design a common training curriculum and 

Page 15



Opportunities for harmonisation
procure a panel of approved training providers across the region.

Information 
sharing 
between 
authorities

Some WY&Y authorities have written to Department for Transport and MPs to lobby for 
national taxi and private hire licensing database.  Leeds is working with a Local Government 
Association (LGA) project to set up a database of refused and revoked licenses.

WY&Y authorities are looking to put in place an arrangement to  share information between 
each other on drivers whose licenses have been suspended, refused and revoked from Jan 
2017 onwards. Any such arrangement would be discussed with the Trade.

Opportunity for all WY&Y authorities to work to common standards about 
information sharing, fair processing information to applicants and licence holders 
who are renewing licences.

Effective 
cross-border 
enforcement

All WY&Y authorities have revised their policies and conditions to allow authorised officers 
from WY&Y authorities to inspect vehicles and check drivers licensed in WY&Y authorities 
as they world do for vehicles and drivers licensed in their own district.

Some WY&Y authorities have written to Department for Transport and MPs to lobby for 
national taxi and private hire enforcement.

WY&Y authorities have agreed to share information between each other on drivers whose 
licenses have been suspended, refused and revoked from Jan 2017 onwards.

WY&Y authorities in the process of finalising staff badges, ticket books, staff training to 
ensure clear and consistent approach across WY&Y.

Trade are currently very critical of local authorities’ inability to enforce effectively vehicles 
working in a district, but licensed elsewhere.

Opportunity for all WY&Y authorities to enforce effectively in their districts on any 
vehicle licensed in WY&Y.

Project leadership
3.2 The officer group has explored ways to deliver the project.  Initially, it was hoped 

to use officers from Leeds City Council’s PPPU service.  However, along with the 
project management and support from PPPU, there would still be a requirement 
for a significant commitment in officer time from each authority.  Because taxi and 
private hire licensing functions are ring-fenced, funding would have to be 
provided through cost savings or reductions elsewhere in each authority.  Some 
authorities said it would be difficult for them to commit to that level of resource..

3.3 The group had explored providing project leadership and support from within the 
licensing teams.  However, this option posed a risk to the service continuity for 
the authorities offering the project resource, especially if the posts could not be 
backfilled quickly or with sufficient expertise.

3.4 The preferred approach is to seek an experienced licensing or leadership 
professional to lead the project.  It may still be necessary to buy in some project 
support, but at a significantly lower cost.

3.5 If successful, we would expect the project leader to complete a brief baselining 
exercise in August or September 2017, summarising the current position of each 
authority, and assessing the readiness for change.  We would expect the 
harmonisation project to take between eight and twelve months.

Consultation exercises

Page 16



3.6 The six WY&Y authorities have different governance and consultation models.  
This means that the consultation on the six priority areas would move at the 
speed of the slowest, waiting for the consultation to be completed, before moving 
on to the next consultation.  

3.6 The aim of the project is for all six WY&Y authorities to harmonise their relevant 
policies and conditions for the six priority areas, and not allow for local variations.  
The recommended policy statement will be brought before the Licensing 
Committee for recommendation for  approval.  This will, however, require the 
Licensing Committees and Lead Members for licensing to be prepared to 
compromise on some details, especially those which do not have a direct bearing 
on passenger safety or vehicle emissions.

4 Corporate Considerations
4.1 Consultation and Engagement 
4.1.2 Full consultation and engagement will take place with the trade, staff, passengers 

and representative groups. 
4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration
4.2.1 Equality and Cohesion Screening Assessments are carried out on the policies 

recommended for approval at Licensing Committee which are used to inform 
decision making.  

4.2.2 It may be useful to allow age extensions for older wheelchair accessible vehicles.  
This will be reviewed as part of an Equality & Diversity Impact Assessment.

4.3 Council policies and City Priorities
4.3.1 The Taxi & Private Hire Licensing policies contribute to the following aims:

Best Council Plan 2013 -17
Towards being an Enterprising Council
Our Ambition and Approach
Our Ambition is for Leeds to be the best city and Leeds City Council to be the 
best council in the UK – fair, open and welcoming with an economy that is both 
prosperous and sustainable so all our communities are successful.
Our Approach is to adopt a new leadership style of civic enterprise, where the 
council becomes more enterprising, business and partners become more civic, 
and citizens become more actively engaged in the work of the city.
Our Best Council Outcomes
Make it easier for people to do business with us
Our Best Council Objectives
Promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth – Improving the economic 
wellbeing of local people and businesses.  With a focus on:

 Helping people into jobs,

 Boosting the local economy

 Generating income for the council

Page 17



Ensuring high quality public services – improving quality, efficiency and involving 
people in shaping their city.  With a focus on;

 Getting services right first time

 Improving customer satisfaction
4.3.2 Taxi & Private Hire Licensing policies contribute to priorities:

 Reduce crime levels and their impact across Leeds

 Effectively tackle and reduce anti-social behaviour in communities

 Safeguarding children and vulnerable adults:
4.3.3 Leeds City Council has both a moral and legal obligation to ensure the duty of 

care for both children and vulnerable adults across all of its services.  This cannot 
be achieved by any single service or agency.  Safeguarding is ultimately the 
responsibility of all of us and depends on the everyday vigilance of staff, who 
play a part in the lives of children or vulnerable adults.

4.4 Resources and value for money 
4.4.1 As this is an information report there are no resource or value for money issues to 

consider.
4.4.2 However it should be noted that the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing service is 

cost neutral to the Council and by virtue of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act, 1976, raises its own revenue by setting fees to meet the cost of 
issuing and administering licenses.  This means that any additional costs 
associated with the proposals will be funded via license fees and will not place 
additional pressure on the council’s budget. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In
4.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from these proposals and they are not 

subject to call in or publication.
4.6 Risk Management
4.6.2 Consideration will be given to each proposal prior to introduction. 

5 Conclusions
5.1 The council has made good progress in improving the safety of the travelling 

public in Leeds.  However, we will only make further improvements if we work 
more closely with neighbouring authorities.  We also have much to gain on 
delivering an effective Clean Air Zone if we work more closely with neighbouring 
authorities.

5.2 The officers and members at the West Yorkshire and York licensing group have 
identified a range of priorities, which if we can deliver them, will improve the 
safety of the travelling public, and simplify council policy and conditions for our 
Licensing Committee and its equivalents in neighbouring authorities.

6 Recommendations

Page 18



6.1 That Members note the information in this report, and endorse the way forward.

6.2 To seek Members’ support for the priority areas identified for harmonising 
policies and conditions. 

7 Background documents 

None.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of    Head of Elections, Licensing and Registration

Report to    Licensing Committee

Date:           4 July 2017

Subject:       Taxi and private hire licensing Training Review – responses to 
consultation

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues

1 The council has for some time wanted to review the way it commissions, delivers and 
reviews the training for the taxi and private hire trade.

2 This report updates Licensing Committee on the responses received to a public and 
trade consultation about driver training.

3 This report summarises the responses, and suggests the next steps of an option 
appraisal.

Recommendations

1 That Members note the information in this report.

2 To seek Members’ support for the option exploration stage of the review. 

1 Purpose of this report
1.1 To inform Members of the responses received to the consultation on driver 

training. 
1.2 To inform Members of the next steps of the review – exploring the various 

options identified.

Report author:  Andrew White
Tel:  3781562

Page 21

Agenda Item 10



2 Background information
2.1 The council has for some time wanted to review the way it commissions, delivers 

and reviews the training for the taxi and private hire trade.
2.2 At present the council has a set of six approved taxi and private hire courses, 

provided by a range of training providers:

Course title Provider Cost

Customer Care Provided by LCC Fleet 
Services

£55 (to LCC)

Driving Standards Assessment Provided by a choice of 3 
local providers: 

Diamond Advanced 
Motorists

AA DriveTech
IAM RoadSmart

£78

£86.40

Hackney Carriage (Taxi) 
Knowledge 

Provided by LCC Taxi & 
Private Hire Licensing

£50 (to LCC)

Literacy & Numeracy Provided by LearnDirect £25

Private Hire Driver Seminar:

 Basic legislation

 Leeds knowledge and 
Leeds city centre 
knowledge

 Private Hire conditions

 Using a reference tool 
(AZ)

Provided by LCC Taxi & 
Private Hire Licensing

£90 (to LCC)

Safeguarding Provided by Carolyn Eyre, 
Safeguarding Consultant

£10

2.3 The training is predominantly for drivers, and particularly new applicants, of which 
there are around 1000 a year.  However, all drivers and operators have been 
required to attend Safeguarding training, and a small number of drivers and 
operators have been required to attend training as a restorative approach if they 
have been found to break the council’s conditions.  

2.4 In February 2017, Licensing Committee Members heard of the service’s plans to 
conduct a review of driver training provision, beginning with consultation with the 
local trade.  The report outlined the reasons for the review, the possible options 
and associated risks, and the possibly timescales for the review, in particular:

Page 22



 Benefits to the trade of a modular driver accreditation (training and testing) 
approach, through training with recognised and transferable qualifications, 
such as BTec, City & Guilds, Institute of Advanced Motoring, NVQ, Public 
Service or Light Goods driving;

 Benefits to customers and staff at Taxi & Private Hire Licensing offices of 
removing training delegates from the queue and car park at 225 York Road, 
which has experienced significant increases in queue time and congestion; 
and

 Benefits of using a developed local market in external training provision, able 
to draw on Training Levy and other training incentives.

3 Main issues
Survey responses

3.1 The council issued the survey in March 2017.  The survey is summarised in 
Appendix 1.  The survey was circulated to a wide range of bodies to ensure 
responses came for different perspectives: training providers, current staff, other 
authorities, passenger groups, trade bodies associations and individual self-
employed drivers.  We are very grateful to everyone who took the time to 
complete the survey and will publish the list of all the survey responses, 
anonymised where relevant.

3.2 In total, 72 organisations and individuals completed the survey, with the majority 
of respondents providing additional comments and information in support of their 
responses (in Appendix 2).  More than 40 respondents completed two open 
questions about training and testing methods (Appendix 2), and 10 respondents 
replied by email providing more general comments (Appendix 3). 

Responses to each question
3.3 The survey showed a mixed view from respondents to the proposals the council 

was suggesting.  We gave respondents the chance to agree, disagree or express 
no opinion either way, with only three questions showing half or more people in 
favour of any single proposal.  
The highest score was 63% of respondents said they supported the 
council’s approach in seeking a modular professional driver accreditation, 
with recognised and transferable qualifications, for example across West 
Yorkshire authorities.  
57% of respondents said that the council should not stop either providing 
or contracting any of the training.  
Half (50%) of respondents said that the council should seek to consolidate 
the training so that we use fewer contractors or training providers

3.4 Although the survey responses show differing views throughout, there was a 
pattern across many of the comments supporting the responses (in Appendices 
2 and 3).  
Many respondents commented negatively on the length of time it takes to 
book and complete training.

Page 23



Some respondents expressed a view that it would be a clearer division of 
responsibilities for the council not to provide training.
Some respondents expressed a view that using dedicated training 
organisations would improve response times and value for money.
Some respondents expressed a view that some commercial training 
providers wouldn’t necessarily have the safety of the public as a priority.
Some respondents expressed a view that the training could be designed, 
refreshed and delivered differently, including some new areas of 
awareness, and that the council might not be the best organisation to do 
this.

Next steps - Options Appraisal
3.6 The consultation does not show an overwhelming response in favour of any 

single approach.  It does, however, show a preference for the council to develop 
a modular approach to training, to increase the capacity in Leeds and in the 
wider economy for training course places.

3.7 The proposed next step of the review would be to explore the following:

 Baseline all W Yorkshire & York (WY&Y) in house and contracted training 
provision (may also involve the project leader of the WY&Y ‘harmonisation’ 
project group as discussed in the separate report);

 Site visits to learn from modular training procurement, provision, contract 
management, e.g. Liverpool, which has 5 recognised training providers who 
each provide all of the required training courses;

 Assessment of the financial impact of having applicants pay the training fees 
directly to a training provider, not the council, see section 4.4.2 below;  

 Opportunity for the council to put forward a traded training function to be 
included on the list of training providers; and

 Opportunity for a framework contract for accredited driver training across the 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority area;

4 Corporate Considerations
4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 This review is based on significant consultation and engagement with the trade, 
staff, passengers and representative groups. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration
4.2.1 Equality and Cohesion Screening Assessments will be carried out on any 

changes to training provision.  
4.3 Council policies and City Priorities

4.3.1 The Taxi & Private Hire Licensing policies contribute to the following aims:
Best Council Plan 2013 -17

Page 24



Towards being an Enterprising Council
Our Ambition and Approach
Our Ambition is for Leeds to be the best city and Leeds City Council to be the 
best council in the UK – fair, open and welcoming with an economy that is both 
prosperous and sustainable so all our communities are successful.
Our Approach is to adopt a new leadership style of civic enterprise, where the 
council becomes more enterprising, business and partners become more civic, 
and citizens become more actively engaged in the work of the city.
Our Best Council Outcomes
Make it easier for people to do business with us
Our Best Council Objectives
Promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth – Improving the economic 
wellbeing of local people and businesses.  With a focus on:

 Helping people into jobs,

 Boosting the local economy

 Generating income for the council
Ensuring high quality public services – improving quality, efficiency and involving 
people in shaping their city.  With a focus on;

 Getting services right first time

 Improving customer satisfaction
4.3.2 Taxi & Private Hire Licensing policies contribute to priorities:

 Reduce crime levels and their impact across Leeds

 Effectively tackle and reduce anti-social behaviour in communities

 Safeguarding children and vulnerable adults:
4.3.3 Leeds City Council has both a moral and legal obligation to ensure the duty of 

care for both children and vulnerable adults across all of its services.  This cannot 
be achieved by any single service or agency.  Safeguarding is ultimately the 
responsibility of all of us and depends on the everyday vigilance of staff, who 
play a part in the lives of children or vulnerable adults.

4.4 Resources and value for money 
4.4.1 The options exploration will affect the fees review the council is currently 

undertaking, and may also require a review of the structure of Taxi & Private Hire 
Licensing.

4.4.2 The Taxi and Private Hire Licensing service is cost neutral to the Council and by 
virtue of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976, raises its 
own revenue by setting fees to meet the cost of issuing and administering 
licenses.  Currently, the council charges the applicants fees for attending those 
training courses provided by the council, and the other training providers charge 
separately.  

4.4.3 If the council were to contract out all of the training, then the fees would be paid 
by applicants directly to those organisations, and not the council.  However, the 
council would retain a role in monitoring the contracts.  This would mean that 

Page 25



there is a risk of a fall in fee income of between £100,000-150,000 in the first 12 
months of the contract, if the council were to contract out the training, and not 
operate as one of the training organisations itself.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In
4.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from these proposals, and they are not 

subject to call in or publication.
4.6 Risk Management
4.6.2 Consideration will be given to each proposal prior to introduction. 

5 Conclusions
5.1 The council has received a wide range of responses and many suggestions, to its 

consultation on driver training provision.
5.2 The responses show mixed views on the best way forward for the council, 

however, there is strong support for the council developing a modular approach 
to training, with drivers able to get accreditation they can use in different 
authorities.  The view of both the service and majority of the respondents is that it 
takes too long to attend and pass training in Leeds, and the council can learn 
from other authorities and organisations.  

5.3 The council is also embarking on some collaborative work with the neighbouring 
licensing authorities, which would develop a common training curriculum and 
qualification, and should significantly improve training capacity in Leeds and in 
West Yorkshire. 

6 Recommendations

6.1 That Members note the information in this report.

6.2 To seek Members’ support for the option exploration stage of the review. 

7 Background documents 

Appendix 1 Training Review Consultation: Summary of responses.

Appendix 2 Training Review Consultation: General Responses

Appendix 3 Training Review Consultation: Comments

Page 26



1

Appendix 2 Training Review Consultation: General Responses

Response 
from

Response

A. Any driver training and testing should be done more locally to where drivers reside. As we know many Taxi and PH 
drivers who work in Leeds don't actually live in Leeds. They are also working at different hours during the night and 
day. Therefore for a driver who works a night shift and is finishing at 5 or 6 in the morning has a distinct 
disadvantage of making an morning or afternoon appointment taking in to account their family responsibilities and 
duties etc. It is difficult at the best of times and the added pressure of having little or no sleep especially if that 
driver needs to work the same night can be dangerous. If any tests or training were more localised (which is easy 
for training companies to do)it would save much time and trouble 

B. I am currently in the process of obtaining a private hire license. I feel the district and leeds city centre test are not a 
good idea and a waste of time, as you learn such knowledge on the job and become familiar with routes and 
landmarks.

I have passed all my tests but I recently failed the Leeds city centre map test but passed the district. As I failed the 
Leeds city centre test I am now going to be re sitting both district and Leeds city centre maps tests. I am having to 
wait a while (due to some work being done to the property of the licensing office).

I feel that the most important tests are to know the conditions and legislation of being a licensed driver along with 
regulations etc.  Also an english test which is in place is good to ensure communication skills are up to standard.

The rest is needless and oh yes reading the A-Z and passing that test should suffice to show that the district and 
finding locations skills are also up to scratch.

C. In responce to your email i would like to say the taxi trade is going down hill and since uber arrived it has made a 
noticable impact on all local firms big and small.  We would like to see a cap on drivers in the private hire industry in 
leeds.  Currently not enough work and too many drivers.  Year on year down time is increasing 

P
age 27



2

Response 
from

Response

D. There are numerous ways to improve the system in leeds city council specially  taxi and private hire.

1) we need to have online system that all the recipients can update the pertaining documents online and the council 
should furnish the badge for at least 3 years, which this method is already in practice in certain councils without 
additional  costs.  This will alleviate the burden on council like queues in reception area.

E. We are a self-advocacy organisation for adults with learning disabilities and we have had various issues with taxi 
drivers.   We feel it would be beneficial for drivers to be given learning disability awareness training by adults with 
learning disabilities.   We already do this for schools and colleges and would be happy to talk to somebody about 
this.

F. I am a private hire driver who drives for leeds city council. I dont agree with all these new courses and training.  The 
most important I feel is safeguarding training ,which I have undertaken, this should be made compulsory for all 
drivers.  There is nothing wrong with how everything is running so I dont think anything needs to be changed.  

G. Thank you for giving this opportunity and I would like to express my grievance to  leeds city council for failing to act 
on the cross border private hire taxi which are not abide by leeds city council  regulations but keep working taking 
our share of market while we should be protected.

H. In considering the consultation and what Leeds City Council are seeking to achieve (in terms of benefits to the 
trade, benefits to customers and staff, and benefits of using a developed local or regional market in training 
provision), I'm mindful of the licensing processes that are currently ran by Liverpool City Council. They have 5 or 6 
accredited and audited training providers who provide the necessary driver training and assessment as part of the 
PHDL application, they also support the driver in completing the Liverpool CC PHDL application form (which is on-
line), submitting the Enhanced DBS and DVLA checks (for which Liverpool CC uses the online service from 
Personnel Checks), and signpost the applicant to an appropriate GP for the Group 2 Medical. This results in a 
process which is efficient for the applicant (majority of the steps being completed with a single provider) and also 

P
age 28



3

Response 
from

Response

for Liverpool CC (with applicants generally needing to visit the Council only once, after they have completed their 
training, DBS / DVLA checks and medical, to have their photograph taken, complete right to work checks and 
collect their badge).

I know that Liverpool CC would be happy to host a visit for you to observe how this licensing process runs in action 
- if that would be useful as part of your consultation exercise? Please let me know if this is something you would 
like me to set up.

I. Dear sirs,

Rather than complete all of the survey I want to concentrate on the most important issue for Operators in Leeds - in 
a nut shell it takes far too long to get licensed as a driver. 

The DBS system takes long enough to get answers on - even clear ones and that's because your staff are stuck 
dealing with the queues and arguments with drivers because they are bogged down with an inefficient outdated 
system. 

One of the biggest and easiest options is to free up how training is delivered , it's got to be available at least 5 days 
a week and not just a day or two here and there and occasionally not at all if someone goes sick or is on leave, you 
wouldn't believe how long the average wait is to get on a course. 

This is why drivers get frustrated why operators can't get the new staff they want quickly enough and why the 
licensing staff are stuck in argument after argument through no fault of their own - they are swamped with 
paperwork and repeated and unnecessary visits.

We are all for training but the current style has not moved on since it was introduced - it has got to get smarter and 
quicker and that can't be achieved in the Council with its workloads. Technology  and efficiency are out there in 
professional training companies - just look how drivers are moving across the West Midlands to Wolverhampton 
where they have gone with private delivery it's really efficient. 

P
age 29



4

Response 
from

Response

None of this is a complaint about the Council or the staff at Torre Road - they don't get the chance to get better 
because of workloads but getting this into a private training company will be a great move for Leeds businesses 
and might stop people going to Rossendale or wherever to avoid the wait in Leeds.   

I think if you did a comprehensive analysis of what it really costs the council to deliver this service you would be in 
shock, you must also consider the lost income of operators and drivers who have to wait months and months for 
the service. 

I think Councillors should look at what's out there and price it up urgently, we are struggling to get new drivers and 
now with the deregulation bill they just go elsewhere to get licensed but still work in Leeds and who knows what 
tests they have had and no one has the power to regulate them in our city. 

I have no out of area drivers but soon I may have to consider it. 

Thanks for putting the consultation out.

J. Dear Sir/Madam,

I am writing to you in response to your recent Training Review Consultation, seeking views on the way Leeds City 
Council delivers driver training and testing. We would like to express an interest in working with Leeds City Council 
to explore ways in which we can help you streamline your taxi licensing service.

Personnel Checks are safeguarding specialists and deliver a range products and services aimed at Taxi Licensing 
authorities, under the name TAXI+. I head up the local authority sales team, and have worked closely with a 
number of licensing authorities across the UK to help them streamline their licensing process and increase 
efficiency for both drivers and officers.

Below are some of the products and services included in the TAXI+ :

P
age 30



5

Response 
from

Response

-       Electronic Taxi Driver Assessment Software

-       Bespoke Taxi Driver Training i.e. safeguarding, best practice, taxi policy etc. 

-       DBS & DVLA Checks

-       Driver ID Verification

-       Right to Work Pre-screens

Our approach is to review our clients licensing processes to put together a package that will achieve the best 
results. Each of our TAXI+ packages are completely bespoke.

I have already had some interesting ideas of how we can help re-design your licensing process with a view to;

-       Delivering an easy, accessible and user-friendly process for drivers

-       Re-focussing officers attention on more important / more productive work.

I’d be very keen to share some of these ideas with you in more detail and give you more information about how 
TAXI+ may benefit your licensing authority.

I look forward to hearing from you.

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 Training Review Consultation: Comments

Q3 Comments:  YES
Think Licencing office is providing good service but waiting time is longer then normal. It would be better 
to contract out
Because drivers will learn how to treat customers before they go to the road
Better value for money and might be quicker than yourself.
This training should be carried out by someone who is professionally trained in Customer Care.
The waiting time for the course too long.
Should be one recognised training provider - transferable across authorities - all working to the same 
standard.
I think that some aspect of customer care would be best delivered by people with particular needs for 
example disabled people
Indepent training I would suggest would be more beneficial
The 'best' training is often more valuable than the 'cheapest'. It opens up personnel to great diversity and 
experience.
I think the training for the drivers that pick up adults with learning disabilities should be trained by adults 
with learning disabilities
I think its current training could need improving with all taxis
Then disability awareness can be covered
Likely to be better value for money.
I am disabled with arthritis using walking aids but not at wheelchair stage yet.  I receive no support from 
private taxi drivers and some even moan when I ask them to push the seat forward at the front so that I 
can swing my legs in easier. Two drivers even refused leaving me with no alternative but to cause myself 
excruciating pain trying to get in.
It gives other people in the area an income instead of just LCC
They may have more appropriate and specific skills for training
i don't think its effective
Streamlined licensing processes benefit drivers and the consumers they intend to serve in future. It is 
therefore in the best interests of local licensing authorities to make any processes as efficient and cost-
effective as possible. The current fragmented approach to training provision as part of the Leeds City 
Council private hire licensing process, in terms of both the number of courses that an applicant is 
required to complete and the differing organisations that provide each course, presents a significant 
barrier to entry for applicants. Indeed the time taken to apply for a private hire driver’s licence at Leeds 
City Council is amongst the longest across all local authorities in which we operate within the UK.  We 
strongly suggest that 0t only should the council consider contracting out its Customer Care training to a 
group of external providers, it should also seek to consolidate the content of the Customer Care training 
into a single course and assessment to be undertaken by an applicant as part of the private hire licensing 
process (alongside the content currently delivered within the Private Hire Driver seminar). Such an 
approach would deliver efficiencies for the Council in terms of content creation, delivery and assessment. 
It would also reduce the costs for the applicant whilst providing a more streamlined application process 
and less disjointed customer experience.  Contracting out to multiple providers, rather than a single 
provider, will be important in terms of stimulating competition and choice - mitigating the risks of 
bottlenecks with a single provider, price hikes, or lengthy lead times to book onto a session.
The recommendation that can be made which adds significant value to the delivery and potentially could 
supersede all of the individual components and will bring all of the different training aspects is the VRQ 
for the Taxi industry, a couple of the occupational units as listed below and our SEAT award that we have 
developed here at Antrec. The VRQ can be delivered to individuals who are wanting to become a taxi 

Page 33



driver and individuals whom are already a taxi driver for their continuous professional development.  The 
delivery will be OfSted Inspected, meet OfQual regulations and will a nationally recognised qualification 
made up of a framework of units that constitute lifelong learning and delivered by professional 
educators.
It is my opinion that the Customer Care Training, though specialised in nature, would benefit from 
contracting out. I feel this course could be further specialised to include further information in relation to 
disability access and those who require further assistance when using Taxi and/or PHV's. Furthermore, 
unlike the other training courses, it is unlikely that the content will change on an ad-hoc basis.
The licensing service needs to concentrate on its most important functions in ensuring that there is 
complete integrity at the point of application and during the lifetime of a licence.   Licensing staff are 
distracted from this by the number of enquiries, visits to the licensing office and frustrations which arise 
with applicants about delays in the current training and testing process.  That administrative burden 
needs to be taken from them so they can concentrate on the really important integrity issues, improve on 
the administrative flow of drivers through the application process, provide improved technical solutions 
to driver learning pre-assessments (as distinct from blocking up the training room with applicants who 
have not carried out any preparatry work), improve on customer relations, introduce an appointments 
system which is sustainable throughout the year ( including holiday periods), reduce the length of queues 
and improve on a range of issues the trade sees as important customer care matters.  The current system 
has so many different venues and with a redisigned service it could be largely taken off site improving site 
access and safety in the car park.  There are technical solutions, with appropriate support to cater for the 
diversity in the applicants, that could really streamline the service provision.  Of course more modern 
delivery solutions can also equate to efficiencies in cost to the service which would filter down to 
considerations in the fees review.  A concern for some might be the integrity issue but that should form a 
significant part of the tendering exercise in a procurement process and have regulatory audit controls 
built into the process with a successful bidder.  A question to consider is ' If Leeds City Council approved a 
modern, accessible, cheaper, streamlined point of entry system how much would that contribute to 
preventing people wanting to join the trade and deciding to go to other LA's, where it's easier and 
cheaper to get a licence and then signing up to a 'National' operator elsewhere and still working in Leeds, 
with the resultant enforcement and and potential safeguarding issues'.  The current training policy can 
drive people away from Leeds but then let them drive back in without a Leeds City Council licence.  I do 
think that there is an opportunity, on this occasion, for Members to get a feel of the trades thoughts on 
developing a streamlined system and also taking the opportunity to see what's 'out there' and how 
training delivery has moved on.   It was with this in mind that the service improvement proposals report 
was submitted to the Licensing Committee last year.

Q3 comments:  NO
Too expensive
It's too costly
They won't have a clue
We as in the licence sector should be better equipped to know at what level of customer care should be
No training should be done in house, to control and give the best quality
For example the English and math test are so simply and the contractors help the drivers to achieve  the 
test mark page
Outsourcing is just money making scheme
Cost will decide but feel may not work in the interest of Leeds residents and of course the workers in the 
trade. Local needs must come first.
Working at Fleet Services who presently provide this service we feel that we are providing a cost effective 
quality training service. There are areas of other training that we feel should be looked at as these have 
an impact on the success of our work here in Fleet services. Many of those who come to us have great 
difficulty in understanding even basic information where the English language is concerned, this has a 

Page 34



direct negative impact on not only our work with the drivers but for customers should they enter the 
world of service provision. It is our view that the way the selection process is conducted is the area to 
look at, as this is wher you will get the right candidates who are able to communicate effectively and also 
fully understand the regulations surrounding the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire operations. We have 
had hundreds of very able people through the our training sessions and almost everyone says that they 
have benefited from attending. When we arrive at a problem it is generally down to them being lacking in 
communication.
It's a chance to ensure the values (especially equality and safeguarding values) are properly embedded. 
Council staff are better than contractors for this, and it's a good way of keeping an eye on quality
Training companies will make a lot of money when it can be done by council officers cheaper and keep 
the money in the council for other things
At present the customer care is in-house and it is not good enough. Or perhaps it is good enough but the 
operators do not enforce customer care standards. Either way the standard of customer care ranges from 
brilliant to absolutely disgusting.
Important to maintain standards at a high level without financial motivation
Prices will hike and is already an expensive profession to get into. You would still charge £115 per year to 
renew license when only costs £10 to change vehicle, it does not cost anywhere meat that to renew the 
license and cost should not increase to illeviate pressure in the office, more adequate, efficient staff is 
required. Most in the queue are not new drivers but old ones waiting for various things/paperwork etc.
Disabled wheelchair users require good quality training standards to be well trained fully informed of the 
law in supporting their needs.Disabled users and many equality customers need to feel safe in their 
transit with private hire journeys.
Would question what motivates external providers as when they are asked to give % passes this could 
lead to dubious training practices to get the desired results.
I do not believe an outside contractor would have the same knowledge and experience as somebody such 
as myself who has worked in the industry for over 20 years
Standardised training from the public sector with no commercial interests is a benefit for customers using 
the service. In my experience of private sector and public sector, customer service is higher when it is not 
driven by profit
No due to external companies knowing less about this industry than themselves!
Keep down costs
It is too expensive
Think that the council is best placed to provide good quality training to taxi drivers. It could retain proper 
control over standards.
the financial incentive corrupts the quality

Q4 comments:  YES
Again application process is too long
Drivers will beanfit from the training they will recive
No reason it shouldn't be. It's just learning road names and directions
if the council can make money from its knowledge that's a good thing in times when budgets are stretched
Should be independently contracted to be a fairer system
If you can market your skills, I don't see why not.
Likely to be better value for money.
There is a much more helpful approach from black and white taxi drivers (nott sure why that is) and if this 
can be passed to on hackney carriage drivers it would certainly benefit me and I am sure I am not the only 
one that has these problems.
Giving others business and income instead of LCC
this would free up time of the staff

Page 35



The training could be designed and bespoke delivered in conjunction with the VRQ for the industry. Again 
this training would be subject to quality OfSted inspections, OfQual regulations and delivered by teaching 
and education professionals with occupational knowledge.
There are viable technical solutions to this which can be delivered more quickly, with greater access to 
appointment opportunities and at significantly less cost than the costs of senior officers of the council 
delivering it.   An enterprising organisation could also work positively and constructively with the HC trade 
to update the existing system.

Q4 comments:  NO
Too expensive
It's too costly
Keep it in house
In house training only
We should set our own standard of service albeit high
Control and Quality of training
It will make the process more complex for driver
To retain an air of professionalism, these tests should be set locally to determine most up to date routes 
etc.
TPHL has undertaken this for many years and has demonstrated that the service they provide is fit for 
purpose and staffed by able employees. To remove this from LCC control would be a potential ruin to the 
service. At the moment it is a source of income in an already very cash starved world. To outsource it 
would become a cost to TPHL and the Authority as a whole, with very little control over potential spiraling 
costs.
They have contracted out the English/Maths testing to LearnDirect and that is a nonsense with drivers 
passing that speak little to no English. I have heard that LearnDirect testers actively 'help' the applicant. So 
contracting out the Knowledge training could only result in a poorer standard of applicants becoming 
licensed drivers. As it is the test is difficult and many or even most do not pass first time but there is a 
reason for that - to keep the standard of driver HIGH.
Probably would be lower quality and can't see it representing value for money
Maintainace of standards
Why should it? Unless there is a better course then no. It will increase costs for drivers and then indeed 
customers in the long run.
In- house maintains quality
because as the licencing authority you should provide all training and accept all liability if any problems 
arise, instead of pushing the blame onto other contractors.
How can an external company teach knowledge to a badge holder of more than 15yrs?
As before keep down costs
LCC have a more up to date local knowledge of transport developments.
it is too expensive
As previous. Think the council is best placed to retain control to ensure a quality standard
 I don't believe that this part of the training should be contracted out. As has been seen within certain 
other authorities, such 'tests' are open to forms of cheating and manipulation. I feel that it would be best 
for this portion of the training to be kept within Leeds City Council. The Council are then responsible for 
any decisions made and can keep the training up to date with current routes whilst maintaining the strong 
standards that underpin the Hackney Carriage trade.   Moving away from the current model will surely see 
standards slip and open up the Council to complaints of cheating or unfairness.

Q5 comments:  YES

Page 36



It would appear more professional if an outside body provided the Seminar training.
Should be one recognised training provider - transferable across authorities - all working to the same 
standard.
again if it makes the council money do it.
Again, if you can market your skills then I don't see why not.
I think the training should be done by adults with learning disabilities
Why need to? The cost will increase and eventually be passed onto the customer.
Likely to be better value for money.
Maybe, as their standards are totally different to black and white cars.  Some cars are so bad, for me who 
has trouble getting up, it is not good to feel that you are on the floor because the suspension is so bad. 
Taxi journeys are the only way I get about and it is never a good experience. Pain will always play a part for 
me but it is the level of pain that I encounter that is often due to attitudes and the state of the vehicle.  
Cars need to be improved alongside the behaviour of some and I mean a minority. Maybe these drivers 
would not change and improve anyway. The alternative is to pay black and white prices which is not 
possible when on a tight budget.
Giving others business instead of LCC
Private hire taxi's are a nuisance to our daily work in the city centre, especially the ones that are coming 
from out of town for example private hire drivers from Wakefield, Dewsbury etc. Their behaviour towards 
us is rude and they need to change their behaviour.
They may have more appropriate and specific skills for training
this would free up time of the staff
we strongly agree that the Private Hire Driver Seminar training should be both contracted out to external 
providers and also consolidated with other elements of the private hire application process to provide a 
more streamlined experience for applicants. Such an approach would alleviate some of the current issues 
impacting service provision at the Council’s facility at 225 York Road including congestion, lengthy counter 
queues and wait times, and lack of adequate car parking facilities. It would also enable the Council’s 
Licensing and Fleet Services functions to focus on their core competencies of licensing and enforcement.  
We note that other authorities such as Liverpool City Council have successfully consolidated their driver 
training into a single course (the Liverpool Standard) whilst accrediting a small number of external 
organisations to provide that course. We believe that Leeds City Council could make significant 
improvements to its own licensing process by adopting a similar approach. The Council should consider 
contracting out training provision to a small group of accredited organisations rather than a single 
organisation - this will help ensure that training capacity does not become a bottleneck within the process 
or applicants face a long lead time to book onto a session, whilst also preventing the scenario whereby a 
single provider is able to unduly control the level of fees that are charged to applicants. The availability of 
multiple providers, conversely, will help stimulate competition and choice.
If this was contracted out - you could then contract with a training provider whom has access to the 
national AEB pots of government funding and they could deliver the VRQ for the industry which will cover 
everything within the seminar and much more. Please see the below:-  B-TEC Level 2 Introduction to the 
role of the Private Hire Driver 1. Health and safety in the taxi and private hire work environment – Online 
Test 2. Road safety when driving passengers in a taxi or private hire vehicle – Online Test 3. Professional 
customer service in the taxi and private hire industry – Online Test 4)    Taxi and private hire vehicle 
maintenance and safety inspections – Online Test 5)    The regulatory framework of the taxi and private 
hire industry – Online Test 6)    Taxi and private hire services for passengers who require assistance – 
Observation and Report 7)    Routes and fares in the taxi and private hire vehicle industries – Online Test 8)    
Transporting of parcels, luggage and other items in the taxi and private hire industries – Online Test 9)    
Transporting of children and young persons by taxi or private hire vehicle – Online Test
offer more diverse person centred training to drivers
Please see earlier comments about streamling the whole training delivery.     In respect of equality, 
safeguarding and customer care there is the opportunity to re-design and create a single, 'one time, date 

Page 37



and place' solution to this which would have great service delivery improvements and als contribute 
quickly to the newly licensed drivers awaiting safeguarding training.  The possible introduction of a 
technical self assessment module would help the 'more prepared' and professional applicant to quickly 
pass through the system and reduce the frustrations of applicants and assessor who are being blocked by 
those who are unprepared for the training and testing.

Q5 comments:  NO
Too expensive
It's too costly
Keep it in house
In house training only
It's better with the council
Quality of training and consistency
Like I said before as the council it's your responsibility  to make sure each driver is capable  of delivering  
the services in a professional  way the experience  I have had personally  believe  the contractors  are 
useless and like before the the drivers to reach the pass mark
It's more comprehensive with Leeds city council
Will it cost more; private companies work on profits not always beneficial to our needs.
LCC values need to be front and centre of this training
As I have said earlier - contracting out has nott worked around the English testing and the worst thing is - 
the council has no idea or control over what is happening in the tests. By keeping the work in-house it is 
open to scrutiny and TPHL can monitor the standard.
In house have more understanding than third parties
Maintainace of standards
Again - maintains quality assurance
All hire journeys must be safe,user friendly and honest as standard enforced by law.
Same as my previous statement, stop contracting work to companies so that you evade any blame when 
problems arise. Training for private hire drivers should now meet the criteria for those seeking a hackney 
carriage licence. Training on safeguarding children, especially vulnerable girls, should be your top priority. 
Too many private hire drivers think it's acceptable to complement/make flattering remarks towards 
underage girls. Some girls look older than they are, this needs to be addressed. Proper training and full 
vetting is needed.
All training should be kept in house, rather than result led hastily rushed sessions being delivered primarily 
for a tick box purpose.
How can a third party company with no knwledge of the industry hold seminars?
too expensive
The council should keep this in house to ensure good standards
I don't feel that it would be appropriate to contract out this portion of the training package for a number 
of reasons. Firstly, this part of the training is catered to the needs and ethos of Leeds City Council, it is 
interchangeable and as it's internal, these changes can be made without fuss or delay. Secondly, such 
training is notorious for cheating and as such, it is only the Council who I deem as being fit to undertake 
such training and assessments of the drivers who are seen. Otherwise, by allowing such training and tests 
to be externally handled, this could open the system up to cheating and other persons undertaking training 
on behalf of a prosepctive candidate (See TFL issues).   This is also an important milestone in a drivers 
application as it is at this point that a Council employee can assess an individuals attributes and attitudes 
to the material being discussed. It is at this point where flaws in external training (English Language) are 
0ted and drivers can be further assessed. An external provider may not share such a strong ethos and the 
high standards expected will surely be lost.   Leeds is held in high regard in terms of it's standards and this 
is why some applicants do not meet the grade and go elsewhere, does Leeds want these individuals who 

Page 38



fall below the expected standards passing? I believe that this ability to retain only the strongest of 
candidates will be lost and Leeds would soon see an influx of 'below par' drivers.   Safeguarding of the 
public is a key element of the training undertaken, this is where the Council has the oppotunity to instill it's 
ethos in all those drivers who wish to attain a license. An external provider may not share such a vision and 
the messages may become diluted. This would not only effect the passengers of Leeds but would effect 
the department when undertaking prosecutions.   Doing so would be a step backwards and the Council 
would struggle to retain these high standards.

Q6 comments:  YES
The council understand more to give the training that is requred
Leeds should have a comprehensive training programme for new and existing drivers. Being trained once is 
not enough so should be repeated and updated regularly. Outsourcing is very expensive.
It's predominately LCC responsibility
Other agencies aren't reliable enough
All of it
Disability training. All drivers deal with special needs passengers wether they have a WAV or not. These 
high standards should be set by Leeds licensing as a benchmark to other authorities.
The standard should be high and the standard should be set by the council
A full service should be provided by an outside body until a driver has passed all relevant parts. This would 
free up the staff at York Road to service the existing drivers etc.
It's better with council if the waiting time can be reduced
All training should be done in house to keep the standards high
From the start to finish the training should be in-house
Education : Basic English and customer care; along with geographical area knowledge.
Just the HC local knowledge.
As much of the process as is possible should be retained within the Council. TPHL has the job of enforcing 
and monitoring the way in which these drivers conduct their services in all aspects. It is therefore highly 
important that the Council sits firmly incharge and in full control of these processes. This is the only way in 
which a consistent approach can be maintained and a fair and transparent means of both training, 
assessing and then enforcing can be undertaken.
All of it except the DVLA running the actual driving test.
The whole process should be dealt with in house
 Mot and customer care
Knowledge test for hackney and private hire
Maintainace of stndards
All of it, train your own staff to deliver any course, more cost effective in the long run not only for the 
council bit for new and existing drivers and indeed the customer
Leeds Council has legal  responsibilities and a duty of care.
Safeguarding.
Unlikely to be cost-effective.
I do not believe outside contractors would have the necessary experiencing of this particular industry
Customer service
All
Knowledge training and literacy numeracy test as then they can see if a driver struggles with the basics
With all work carried out at york rd there should be ample room to have in house training
This would enable us to have more influence over the support, selection and training of drivers to fit with 
the city's strong econ, compassionate city ambition. It cld offer us more opportunity to target promotion 

Page 39



and access in some of our more deprived communities and to some of our priority groups rather than just 
leaving it to market forces. Thus applying some of the same principles we apply to other aspects of the 
council's recruitment to driver recruitment if/wherever possible.
Should be cheaper and should be specifically for drivers
Should all be kept in house
a theory test should be taken every 5 years
needs to be local
 I don't believe any other external providers should change.
The great danger is that the whole process slows down again when there are multiple venues, trainers and 
appointment systems and repeated verification checks.   It is the design of the service, it's quality content 
the training provider and how it is delivered that is important.

Q6 comments:  NO
I think that the best organisation for the task should deliver it and that is not necessarily the council
The Council cites a strategic objective of Customer Focus, with a desire to improve the customer 
experience and reduce the need for customers to visit the Council’s offices. Retaining any aspects of driver 
training and testing in-house would be contradictory to these objectives.  The Council has a primary 
responsibility to ensure the taxi and private hire industry is trusted and meets the needs of the local 
communities, whilst protecting the traveling public. The Council’s available resources should be focused on 
its core competencies of licensing and enforcement of license conditions, allowing specialist external 
providers to focus on training and assessment.
The only aspect should be accessing the DBS information that is returned to the council and issuing the 
relevant taxi badge for the local authority area. The training and testing could all be funded under 
government initiatives which would in turn save the council extra headcount costs but then be inspected 
by national quality auditors within OfSted, SFA etc. This will ensure the professionalism of the industry but 
that all organisation are then accountable for ensuring quality standards.

Q7 comments:  YES
More consistent approach to training. Taking a holistic approach rather than training in silos
All should be Leeds Council
All should be in house.  99% of advise is ignored by your drivers
Cost
Save money
Good idea
Training done in house
Definitely
In house I feel is better.
One training package to cover all areas.
I feel that there are things that could be consolidated, there are always things that can, however it is if 
things are legally allowed to be brought together that is the question. Fleet would have not difficulty in 
giving some form of area knowledge training to drivers if it was thought appropriate and staff at TPHL were 
already stretched to the limit. I feel that the first areas to look at are the ones being sourced outside of the 
Authority which could be done inside the fence so to speak, thus saving costs.
try to save money where ever possible
Keep it all in-house. This issue is such a hot-potato with all kinds of issues around safeguarding etc - the 
council must keep as much control as possible.
 I think that to get the best quality training it is probably useful to involve providers with different areas of 
expertise

Page 40



In house equals more understanding of learning material and would cost less
To save time and money
As mentioned before, go for what is best--that which provides the better, more robust training.   
Shockingly, quality often has a price--you get what you pay for. As a council you should tender out your 
requirements and go with the lowest bidder that meets the best skillset you require.
It needs to be affective but cheep
It will likely be cheaper
It might save money hopefully
Because you are responsible for handing out licences, let's not pass the blame onto contractors here. It's 
your responsibility to vet drivers and ensure they are properly trained.
Consistency
The business of the department should be led by the department itself. They can then see who is being 
taught and going through the process and where the errors are occurring.
Choose the best, giving them more or all of the work will reduce their costs to you. That way we all win. 
Easy.
It sounds like it would be less complicated and time consuming to deal with less contractors, and possibly 
save money
Does it save money? Is it beneficial? Will it give better results?
Saves wasting more licence payers money in a very hard industry to earn money already.
So you can keep an eye on trainers
To save on costs
I only have a general rationale for this based on commissioning providers - if there are fewer, although it 
can limit training capacity, it usually means we have: more influence over quality, more commitment from 
providers (assuming they have a greater investment), better buy in to strategic objectives (as per previous 
response)
Just to  be done by Leeds Council
Should all be done in house to provide good consistency and quality. This is a service for the people of 
Leeds (and people visiting in Leeds) and should be provided by Leeds City Council. Often people's first 
experience of a city is via taxi and that should be a good experience. The quality of driving they experience 
and the quality of customer care they should receive should be the very best if we are to achieve our 
ambition to become 'best city'
this depends on the courses. Standard need to be raised
keep things consistent and simple
To reduce costs and simplify the process.
As noted earlier, we strongly recommend that the Council seeks to consolidate training so that it can be 
undertaken by an applicant within a single course. The current fragmented approach to training, with 
several courses and a mixture of external and in-house providers, is a primary reason for the Leeds process 
taking so long. Consolidation of all components into a single course would have significant benefits for the 
Council, for applicants and ultimately for the travelling public.  Accrediting a small number of contractors 
or training providers would be prudent in terms of controlling delivery whilst monitoring quality and 
performance. However it is equally important to ensure that those external providers have sufficient 
capacity, or at least the capability to scale, to be able to adequately manage the volume of future 
applicants to Leeds City Council. Availability of training and assessment slots must 0t become a barrier for 
those seeking to obtain a private hire licence, as that would be detrimental both to the applicant and 
members of the public wishing to use the applicant’s services in future.  As mentioned previously it is also 
important to ensure that limiting the number of training providers does not lead to a situation whereby 
those providers are able to artificially inflate the cost of training delivery. Indeed we would suggest that 
the Council should look to maintain a degree of control over the fees charged to applicants for training and 
assessment.

Page 41



 The current system is clogged up, time consuming and very frustrating for the trade.  Please see earlier 
comment.

Q7 comments:  NO
Get the best people for the relevant training
I believe a fair and transparent procurement exercise needs to happen which should then result in a list of 
approved suppliers based on the assessment matrix. This would then ensure that unfundable training 
delivery is kept to a minimum for those that cannot access government funding due to competition and 
that there are enough provider to delvier a quality service versus the number of current drivers and 
expectant new driver counts.
 I don't see any problems with how the training is conducted and with the providers already used. I don't 
think the Council would benefit any further from consolidating the training packages provided.
 Don't think this is necessary

Q8 comments:  YES
Stop contracting training
If you do it yourself then you will know to what level the people you are training are at or who you should 
be passing
Training should be done by LEEDS CITY COUNCIL
May be on a costing level; more control over finance.
Should be only for new drivers
For reasons mentioned previously, long term lower costs of retain the trained staff.
Sick and tired of Leeds City Council moving goal posts on the industry with drivers wasting time and money 
on it.
It should be providing training in house
financial incentives to these companies attracts corruption
LITERACY & NUMERACY Advances in technology have reduced the need for drivers to have high standards 
of English or adequate math skills to calculate change owed, or write out receipts. It is of course important 
that drivers can communicate effectively with their passengers, but this is increasingly facilitated by apps 
and technology. With app technology, fares are calculated automatically and passengers receive receipts 
straight to their email or phones.  We therefore recommend that any assessment of literacy and 
numeracy, in the context of Private Hire, must be proportionate to the role of a private hire driver and 
should be consolidated into the Private Hire Driver seminar.  DRIVING STANDARDS ASSESSMENT Many 
local authorities have taken the decision to rely on a driving licence as a measure of someone’s driving 
capabilities, rather than requiring an additional test. Indeed the empirical evidence that the costs incurred 
to complete the driving standards assessment result in a satisfactory improvement in public safety are not 
known.  The Council must be mindful of the costs and barriers that the additional driving standards 
assessment introduces into the licensing process. Apart from the cost of the assessment itself, mandating a 
third party test will increase the total time taken to get a licence, as long wait times can build up to book a 
test. This can also have a knock on effect as prospective drivers will 0t want to pay and complete other 
steps in the process until they have passed the driving test should they need to retake it.   The Council 
should bear in mind the DFT guidance which states "Many local authorities rely on the standard car driving 
licence as evidence of driving proficiency. Others require some further driving test to be taken. Local 
authorities will want to consider carefully whether this produces benefits which are commensurate with 
the costs involved for would-be drivers, the costs being in terms of both money and broader obstacles to 
entry to the trade”.  Competition is the biggest driver of improving standards within the Private Hire 
industry, and operators should be encouraged to innovate and provide new ways to improve standards. 
For example technology is constantly improving the way Private Hire operators can monitor driving 
patterns and track safe driving through things like real-time feedback or telematics. Telematics allows 

Page 42



operators to use data captured through smart phones to encourage drivers to reduce harsh braking and 
driving above the speed limit. Requirements for additional driving proficiency tests, over and above the UK 
practical driving test, are therefore increasingly unnecessary.  Based on the above we therefore 
recommend that Leeds City Council remove the Driving Standards Assessment.  PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER 
SEMINAR: LEEDS KNOWLEDGE & LEEDS CITY CENTRE knowLEDGE Historically, knowledge and 
topographical tests were necessary to ensure a driver was able to transport passengers to their destination 
in a direct and timely manner. Given the significant advances and proliferation in GPS and mapping 
technology, such tests are no longer relevant in today’s Private Hire market and should not be mandatory. 
GPS technology provides a much more  accurate way of identifying the quickest or shortest route and is 
now ubiquitous.  DFT Guidance also makes a clear distinction between topographical knowledge 
requirements for Taxi and Private Hire drivers. It states that such tests may be appropriate for Taxi Drivers 
but are  “unnecessarily burdensome” for Private Hire drivers, given that Private Hire drivers are all pre-
booked, meaning that a journey can be planned in advance if necessary.  Analysis of tens of thousands of 
trips taken on the Uber platform in Merseyside has shown no difference in driver ratings or trip quality 
between drivers who have taken a topographical test (via a Sefton private hire driver’s licence) and those 
who haven’t (via a Knowsley private hire driver’s licence).  We therefore recommend that Leeds City 
Council remove the Leeds knowledge & Leeds City Centre Knowledge component from the Private Hire 
Driver Seminar.

Q8 comments:  NO
They shoul still give training
Leeds City have a responsibility to prvide training and this should be done by the Council
Regular training
There aren't that many contracts in place in the first instance anyway.
Training has to be provided by someone!!
I think there should more test.
As you are taking a fee I believe you should supply all the nesscerry  information  needed that is with in the 
test
Important to retain some control over what licence holders achieve/ need to be re-trained.
 It is too important and the Council must remain firmly in control of these processes
training is important on a service like this
If the council are the ones controlling access to hackney or private hire licenses then there needs to be 
some criteria as to who can have one. How else except by training applicants to a set council standard. As 
it is the training is not detailed e0ugh. Many drivers can not use a GPS or rely on one completely in which 
case they are lost without. VERY few can read a map or an A-Z even though this is supposedly part of the 
test that the council currently does.
All the training is essential
It's a service to the public and it would be a good way to ensure standards
Some training is necessary
safeguarding and disability awareness should be extended and more thorough
I don't see how that would benefit anyone.
Council needs to keep on top of all trsing
Driver,standards need to be improved , not outsourced as this always seem to lower standards
The training is essential to maintain high levels of service
A mixed package of training is essential for private hire vehicles
The training is fully trained and has a duty of care.
Why would you stop providing training? Are you deliberately trying to create an even further unsafe 
industry?
Training is really important to the quality of the service

Page 43



 I think the council should be involved in the training of drivers in some way, as it's important
I believe that the drivers need to be trained otherwise the customer may not get the service they are 
paying for.  Customer care is particularly important and drivers should be instructed not to impose their 
cultural/religious values on passengers - for instance, being rude to women some drivers think shouldn't 
be allowed out on their own, or disapprove of their dress.
Training is vital to ensure that all drivers have a good understanding of all their responsibilities etc as a taxi 
driver.  I don't think it makes any difference whether it is delivered in house or contracted out - providing it 
meets the needs and delivers the right outcomes.  If contracted out then the contract monitoring needs to 
be robust
 Training is essential for new applicants
The training appears to me to cover many aspects of both customer and driver safety and comfort
It needs to be done to keep a high standard
Taxi driver training is vital, especially where disability awareness raising is concerned.
Wld limit influence as outlined in earlier response
Training is an essential element of obtaining a PHD or HCD licence.  It ensures that applicants are aware of 
the requirements expected of them and the relevant rules/regulation they must follow.  It also safeguards 
the public as licensed drivers receive training to ensure they are competent to carry out their role.
 Should provide the training and not contract it out
training is essential
Training is vital and these courses look important.
We blieve that further training needs to happen - there are specific Vocationally related qualifications that 
are aimed at the taxi driver industry. These support the driver to ensure professionalism and that they are 
equipped with all the knowledge required to work within the industry. Here at Antrec LImited (the busiest 
taxi driver academy in the 0rth West) we also include the VRQ, our SEAt training and training for a 
professional accountant with regards to self employed tax returns.
 As mentioned previously, it is imperative for the Council to remain in control of some aspects of the 
training but not all.
 Taxi drivers need to speak better English
 As mentioned previously, it is imperative for the Council to remain in control of some aspects of the 
training but not all.training is needed - need more awareness if anything
Absolutely not.   It is an essential part of the 'fit and proper' person assessment and to drop to the lowest 
level of entry would but a significant backward step for the Authority which has led the way in terms of 
standards of drivers.

Q9 comments:  YES
Consistency, professionalism and transferability
Beacuse drivers from other area such as bradford and wakefield even as far as wolverhampton are working 
in leeds since the new goverment law
Only if its properly checked
Helps the drivers
I have always wanted to ask Leeds licensing if I could take an advanced driver training course and the 
operations manager has mentioned this in one of the newsletters as well. I strongly believe you are never a 
good driver until you have achieved a qualification to better your driving and can be assessed on it. Even 
Transport For London looks to Leeds licensing and adopts some of their rules.
 As there are a lots of driver coming in to leeds from other councils to work. As they are working in our 
district they should be given same training as us or they shouldn't be allowed to work in our district.
This trade does not carry enough recognisable  merit which the general public know nothing about.
Common sense!!

Page 44



but if this is done it must go out to all drivers, unlike the failed NVQ VERY POOR
To work as a combined authority all licence holders must attain the same standard.
It's a good idea
Only if the map/route/A-Z training is more through.
I'ts a flexible approach
ensuring staff are trained
Of course--standardisation of qualifications/accreditation is beneficial to everyone--it saves on 'red tape' 
and it saves money, time and effort when equivalent skills have already been acquired. Standardisation is 
inherently best.
With apps like UBER drivers from other areas in West Yorks are operating in Leeds, so uniform standards 
would be beneficial
Sounds a good idea
So all drivers are of the same standard and paying the same fees
It provides continual assessment and refresher opportunities
 Demonstrates a commitment to the service
Leeds sets high standards and must determine the regional standards.
 I don't fully understand the question, but from what I make of it if you're trying to make it harder to 
obtain a licence, and apply thorough testing, then 1, I fully agree.
To ensure the service levels are as good from drivers outside Leeds
It needs to be regulated to the same standard and this would make it easier to implement and monitor.
Good to transfer to other authorities, to give individuals flexibility
I think drivers do move between companies, so it makes sense to have transferable qualifications and 
modular accreditation might be easier to manage for companies and drivers
It would make sense to operate to the same standards countywide.
It is really useful for members of the public to be able to expect consistent professional standards
 It makes sense to transfer skills rather than have to complete training already gained in another council 
area
 It saves re doing it for other places - therefore saving money and time
all working to a professional standard
It makes sense.
 Makes sense for the skills development of the city's working population and may increase value for 
money/economies of scale
This creates a level playing field across the local area and ensures the travelling public can be confident 
that all licensed drivers in that region have had suitable training.
Makes sense the the accreditatoin and transferable qualifications are recognised across West Yorkshire
absolutely. the drivers are representing lcc
 its the way forward
Drivers often work across local boundaries so working with other West Yorks authorities seems to be a 
good idea. Also it will help to standardise the process across the county and could help to save money 
through collaborative working.
We strongly agree with the vision for a single, harmonised approach to private hire licensing (including 
driver training and assessment) across West Yorkshire. This will deliver greater consistency across the 
region in terms of standards, and provide greater flexibility for drivers to operate across the region as the 
barriers to transfer a licence from one authority to another reduce. Consistent standards are also positive 
in terms of enforcement across the West Yorkshire Combined Authority area.  The Council should carefully 
consider any intention to introduce recognised driver qualifications and accreditation, particularly in terms 
of the cost implications. Introduction of a nationally recognised qualification such as a Vocationally Related 
Qualification (VRQ), for example, carries with it considerable cost - both in terms of lengthy classroom 

Page 45



training delivery and the enrollment fee levied by the accredited examination body. It is not uncommon for 
such courses to cost an applicant upwards of £250. Previously there were various funding sources available 
that could cover the cost of such training (for example the European Social Fund), however many of these 
sources are no longer available. As a result the costs of such training are more likely to be borne by the 
applicant themselves and, if significant, could pose a considerable barrier to obtaining a private hire 
driver’s licence in Leeds.
The recommendation that can be made which adds significant value to the delivery and potentially could 
supersede all of the individual components and will bring all of the different training aspects is the VRQ for 
the Taxi industry, a couple of the occupational units as listed below and our SEAT award that we have 
developed here at Antrec. The VRQ can be delivered to individuals who are wanting to become a taxi 
driver and individuals whom are already a taxi driver for their continuous professional development.  If for 
instance that a driver is unable to cope with the demands of the IT based end point assessment within the 
B-TEC qualification then the modular NVQ qualification would be appropriate as different methods of 
gathering evidence can be shown - this is only applicable if the driver is currently in employment. The NVQ 
can0t be delivered if the driver isn't within an employment opportunity at the time of wanting to take the 
qualification
 Better quality Service
Only if this was done across other West Yorkshire Authorities and it is not used as a backdoor to out source 
training. Such accrediation would benefit certain drivers but not all. Maybe this should be an optional extra 
for drivers.
It would be good to know we have trained taxi drivers for safety
ensures consistency
Professionalising the trade is always good and the Combined Licensing approach would have a significantly 
beneficial effect.  In respect of the professional driver accreditation Leeds should lead the way and 
highlight its best practice as long as it considers how and when it might impact on the existing trade.  
Members might feel that the existing PH driver conditions in respect of 'Requirement to undertake training 
' might adequately cover this point if it was applied when appropriate and possibly in necessary modules.

Q9 comments:  NO
Just penalise Leeds drivers and losing revenue.
 I aam sure that if Leeds provided training it would be of a high enough standard/quality to be accepted 
accorss all WY authorities
Who would gain from this
I think everyone council  should be separate so there's no cross bordering and each driver responsible to 
their own areas. But I do belive the officers of each areas cross West Yorkshire should be able to stop any 
driver as the dbs and the medical examination  also should be expected  across  the West Yorkshire
It will more complex
Drivers working in Leeds should attain their badge through  city council only
Drivers who have already completed their training have already invested a significant amount of time and 
money in getting trained and accredited in their profession. To now have to do this all over again, takes 
them away from their work places, hence loosing more money and costs them further charges.  Would it 
not be fairer to commence this with NEW drivers and phased the accreditation with existing drivers in 
over, for example over 5 years gradually(taking up to 5 years to be accredited).
We already have that training previously with NVQ
It needs leaving alone
 A driver is a driver, why the need for qualifications?
With all the different courses that have been done i would say that most drivers are accredited
I strongly feel that this should be optional and not forced upon drivers . I understand why you are doing 
this however some people dont have the time or are not intrested in these qualifications and hate doing 
tests and classroom training hence and dread doing this . So if you do go ahead with this which is fine 

Page 46



however it should be the choice of the drivers if they would like to do or not.

Q10 comments:  
Lack of disability awareness among drivers. Particular issues for passengers with a sensory disability. 
Accommodation of assistance dogs. Adequate guiding skills taking partially sighted passengers from 
doorstep to taxi and from taxi final walking destination
Equality and Wheelchair trianing
Operators need their city knowledge updating. It's not possible to use specific roads and pick ups or drop 
offs are not possible.
 I as a private hire driver have found very recently I have been giving first aid I.e. Cleaning wounds and 
wrapping bandages to some customers or passers by. God forbid the day I encounter an accident I the 
highest severity. I certainly don't want to be running round like a headless chicken. I would want to help 
them. So for that reason first aid training should be made compulsory for every driver. This can come in 
handy in all walks of life and help even when off duty.
Dementia.  The old. Good practice.  Customer care.
Customer service and other subjects covered in the NVQ, that was stopped for some reason
What is in place I think it covers everything
There is already enough training steps for a driver
Feel we have this covered.
Many of the drivers will not deal with a wheelchair user who travels seated in their wheelchair, this 
training should be seperate and be specific to thos who hold or are seeking to hold a permit to do this type 
of transport provision. As already said, it is communication that is the key to everything and we need to 
ensure that the right candidates are selected to do the job. The problem is how do you expand the training 
to new levels if you are limited by the ability of those who you are trying to educate?
I don't know the current syllabuis (you've not told us what this is)  but equality areas are vital in particular 
age ability/disability (including physical, learning disability, mental health & sensory impairment) users of 
mobility aids hate crime working with people who don;t have english as a 1st language
I book taxis for several disable people as part of my job. It is very hard to book several wheelchair 
accessible taxis at one time and the yare often late. HOWEVR I blame the operators and their admin staff 
because I email booking in and they do not seem to pass the info to the drivers. For example: a blind 
elderly lady with a guide dog. She will need an estate vehicle so the dog can go in the back. She will need a 
driver who isn't funny about dogs and not refuse to take the dog. She will need a CAR rather than a 
minibus or people-carrier as she can't get up into a high vehicle. She will need a patient caring driver to 
help her out if she needs and not rush her. I can repeatedly ask the operator for all these things and get 
NONE.  I have many further examples.
The needs of disabled people are often not adequately met by taxi drivers, that includes people who use 
wheelchairs, people with learning difficulties and people with autism
More taxi drivers need training in getting the customer in the taxi in an electric wheelchair or a small 
mobility scooter
awareness of people with support needs, disability but also vulnerability of learning disabled people and 
other young people
I inherently laud training to appropriately (sensitively) deal with vulnerable demographics.
We have had various problems with drivers leaving people with learning disabilities at the wrong place or 
speaking to people in the wrong way.  So more training on how to deal with adults with learning 
disabilities.
A lot of privates hire taxis need training in all this area
All the above. Some drivers seem to be quite ignorant of the issues these groups face
Because emerging issues will require awareness raising
Disability awareness /supporting young people / wheelchair training

Page 47



Leeds should train and support all areas of diversity and equality including dementia.
Safeguarding for children and any vulnerable persons. Drivers need to be professional and have an 
education when it comes to things such as grooming etc. It should be safe to put a 13 year old girl in a 
private hire car alone in 2017, but it's not is it. I think there's some serious work to be done here, and it 
needs to start with training drivers. The regulations need to be very strict, no excuses. no language 
barriers, if they can't speak English then it's a straight "X". How about a knowledge test of the city, such as 
routes and destinations? Nobody should have to give directions to a taxi driver. You wouldn't give 
directions to a bus/coach driver would you? People are paying for a service, not to educate the driver!
Dementia particularly
Too much training in the world already.
Consideration...drivers often do not have any because they (and I understand to a degree) want to get to 
the next paid job.  This often means you are rushed and feel more pain/embarrassment. I wonder if you 
involve disabled people in your training? Either wheelchair or walking stick? Often it is the persons 
approach to me that matters and the journey is much easier when the driver is friendly and not making me 
feel that I am the customer from hell just because I need some help with them moving their seats forward.
I know there are problems finding companies for people who need help getting in and out of vehicles, or 
use wheelchairs. Also, anyone with disabilities, dementia or mental health problems can have difficulty 
communicating, and people do need training in this area.
Drivers should have to attend training in all the subjects you suggest, plus, treating women with respect.
All areas of equality need to be considered, and the barriers that some people face and how they can be 
overcome.  If taxis are not accessible (in the widest sense) to all then this prevents people from 
participating fully in life
Existing drivers already have that through work experience
Hidden disabilities - I have a hidden disability and use taxis to and from work regularly. Drivers need to be 
aware that not all disabilities can present as obvious as sensory impairments or wheelchair user.  Also 
better training with wheelchair users.  It's nice to have conversations but I'd prefer not to listen to really 
sexist remarks from drivers - as well as other bigoted remarks about race, religion, gender etc etc - I don't 
need to explain why I don't have a husband or children for example.
We are private hire/taxi drivers not social services!
Some drivers still do not understand how to deal with vulnerable clients. It infuriates me. This needs more 
training.
Private hire drivers need to be trained as to how to behave when driving into the city centre and not to 
quarrel with and come in the way of hackney drivers.
I am the Service Coordinator for a service for adults with Autism in Leeds (Specialist Autism Services). A 
number of our service users use taxis to travel to/from our service. Traveling is one of the commonest 
areas of difficulty for individuals with ASC and can be very anxiety-inducing. Having taxi drivers with a 
greater awareness of ASC might really help them.    A few improvements that might help our members: - If 
the driver is going to be late, inform the customer - If the driver needs to travel by an alternative routes 
(e.g. because of traffic/road works) inform and give the reason - Be patient (do not rush individuals) - Be 
aware that some with ASC find it difficult to make / can become anxious in being invited to make small talk
All these were done 5 years ago
Drivers seem to have very little understanding of people with hidden disability (autism)
I believe there should be specific areas on Disability Awareness; Helping Passengers with  a Visual 
Impairment; Invisible Impairments; Helping Passengers with Multiple Impairments
I would absolutely support this for a number of reasons: dementia is growing, there are more older people 
and more disabled people so there will be a growing need. More importantly, its the right thing to do in 
line with our compassionate city , best city to grow old...etc ambitions. Also, as per previous responses, 
wherever/however appropriate or possible, we shld also look at inclusive recruitment.
It is important that licensed drivers are aware of how to deal with all customers they encounter.
basic first aid. driver theory testing every 5 years

Page 48



its something that keeps cropping up - drivers knocking on a door for a deaf customer.  Or refusing some 
wheelchairs. The drivers need to be aware that their customer is a real person
LGBT Awareness - as a member of the LGBT community I am aware of friends and colleagues who have felt 
uncomfortable or discriminated against by taxi/private hire drivers due to their perceived sexuality or 
gender identity.
Antrec Limited have developed over a 6 year period the below units which we deliver to the majority of 
taxi drivers aross our region in Mers1ide. These units are industry leading which is the Service Enterprise 
Awareness Training, this can be delivered pre or post-employment but will give all drivers the necessary 
awareness needed to offer exceptional customer services and be able to be vigilant in the 21st century and 
mindful as to what potential activities they could be a witness too and how to report / deal with these 
incidents   An awareness of Child Sexual Exploitation and Child abuse – Portfolio of evidence 1          know 
how to recognise abuse in children and young people. 2          Be aware of factors that make abuse and 
sexual exploitation more likely 3          Know how to respond to suspicions or disclosures of abuse or sexual 
exploitation An awareness of Safeguarding Adults – Portfolio of evidence 1    know how to recognise abuse 
in adults  2    know how to respond to suspicions or disclosures of abuse in adults An awareness of the 
Prevent Concept – Portfolio of evidence 1    Have an awareness of the Prevent Concept 1.1   Define the 
terms ‘British Values’, ‘Radicalisation’ and ‘Extremism’ 1.2   Identify examples of possible extremism  1.3   
Identify factors that may make a person more vulnerable to exploitation  1.4   Outline your rights as a 
citizen in the UK in relation to discrimination, hate crime, extremism and radicalisation.  1.5  State the 
correct procedure for reporting and recording suspicions of radicalisation and extremism. An awareness of 
the contemporary issues in your sector – Portfolio of evidence 1    Have an awareness of the current issues 
effecting the sector An introduction to mental ill-health – Portfolio of evidence 1    Be aware of what is 
meant by mental health 2  Be aware of some of the responses to mental health issues Have an awareness 
of learning disabilities and learning difficulties – Portfolio of evidence 1    Be aware of the different types of 
learning disabilities and learning difficulties 2    Be aware of ways to support individuals with disabilities 
and learning difficulties Autism Spectrum Condition Awareness – Portfolio of evidence 1    Be aware of the 
concept of Autism Spectrum Condition 2    Be aware ways to support an individual with an Autistic 
Spectrum Condition Sensory Loss / Impairment Awareness - – Portfolio of evidence 1    Be aware of the 
nature and characteristics of sensory loss and impairment 2    Be aware of ways to support an individual 
with sensory loss. Customer Service Awareness – Portfolio of evidence 1    know the importance of good 
customer service within your sector 2    Be aware of key aspects of good customer service. Safe 
transportation and handling of specimens awareness – Portfolio of evidence 1    Understand health and 
safety procedures relevant to safe transportation of specimens An awareness of Health and Safety in the 
workplace – Portfolio of evidence 1    Be aware of the health and safety procedures relevant to your 
workplace
I certianly feel that the Council could do more with the training of Operators and Drivers in Disability 
issues. Operators need to be made aware of their own responsibilities as per the Disability Act 2010. 
Furthermore, with the current changes in legislation, it is important that the Council is seen to be doing 
everything in it's power to educate both Drivers and Operators in such issues. Too many times, disabled 
passengers are being let down and 0t provided with the service that should be provided.
All of the above. Taxis need to be accessible for the elderly to be able to get in and out of.
Somewhere close to your office with sufficient parking
dementia and older people - big need
That could be encompassed in the improved driver training module.

Q11 comments:
Computer based traing would be a better idea
Classroom / face to face is probably most effective with reinforcement and confirmation as part of the 
delivery. Role play and real life situations. For disability awareness training involve people with disabilities 

Page 49



to give real examples.
Computer based training
The trainig should also include computer based and using satnav and map
A suitable mix depending on the subject
Face to face. Drivers ignore most of the licencing regulations. Too many breeches to list here
Classroom
Face to face.
Face to face so you know it's sinking in
More face to face training in class room
On live E-learning
I think all the training should be face to face or in a classroom  as is the current situation also should 
introduced  the new writing essay like in London as the tflhas done
Once someone goes through the licensing process he get e0ugh training and day by day he seeks more 
experience. So it's pointless taking him to classrooms with new excuses again and again
Combination of both plus maybe some practical.
Local training centres/ e-learning

I think the company owners need to understand their levels of responsibility and so should have a session 
of learning specific to this subject. You can never beat person to person training, computer based training 
can be done by anyone other that the person who is instructed to do it.
I think because in my experience many drivers do not have English as their first language that face to face 
testing is an important part of the programme. This because issues can be caught early on ie inappropriate 
behaviours, very poor language skills. Drivers are clever to the extent that they can provide new applicants 
with the 'right' answers rather than the applicant actually thinking for themselves.  However to engage the 
applicants in the learning more - maybe a variety of different learning tools can be used but 0t rely on one.  
The current customer care training - 0-one ever fails. WHY? because the tester is lenient? or because he 
'helps' the applicants? Does he allow them to retry each question until they get it right?
Drivers need to listen to what the disabled customers needs are and how to make sure we are safe from 
our mobility equipment moving.
Private hire should be allowed to use bus lanes
There are pros and cons to every manner in which training/testing is delivered. Face-to-face is often more 
engaging whereas computer-based training offers flexibility.  I would recommend a hazard/risk course for 
all professional drivers to understand how to deal with dangerous road conditions as well as to better 
experience the consequences of reckless driving.
We already run disability awareness for universities and schools and are able to offer training to drivers
Think both also think that the council needs to do more spot checks not just cars but the drivers aswell
Face to face is much more useful. Can't ask a computer a question...
Online theory training could be a requirement for learning that is free but produces a certificate or 
reference before the classes can commence to show 'revision' and preparation.
Computer based
face to face in order to ensure understanding and stress equality of need.
Face to face in a classroom with strict test papers.
Face to face
Training for drivers who are involved with people who have complex health issues should be better 
equipped to deal with this.  My disability is not nearly as limiting as some and as I only became disabled 
this way two years ago I understand first hand the differences in attitudes and problems that arise.  
Overall, most drivers are good and helpful but there are a number who are not.  Cars are often not suitable 
and make thngs much worse.  Training with real people who have disabilities in my opinion is a must and 
would hopefully reduce the problems.

Page 50



Face to face
I think a mixture of methods, depending on the thing being taught and tested. For things like how to help 
customers with different needs, it might be helpful to get groups of taxi users involved.
Face to face so you can be sure it is the person themselves undertaking the training, not somebody doing it 
on their behalf.
Case studies are always useful
From my experience computer based training isn't as successful as face to face. When I had staff who did 
computer based training, it didn't seem to sink in as much or be taken as seriously as when the training 
was done in person. Obviously this is a cost, but rather than rely on computer based training than doesn't 
deliver as well, it may be worth it.
By post
Definitely face to face so trainers can realise if any driver or operator is not competent enough
They need an information day with power points informing them how to behave
Face to face anybody can lie on a cpmputer
Face to face in a classroom (better learning)
Face to face, with people who have first hand experience of the relevant issues.
A mixture is, on paper, better as there are quality aspects that can arguably only be assured in face to face. 
However, appreciating costs involved in that a mixture of methods wld perhaps be most expedient.
Should be a mix to ensure that different learning styles are catered for.
face to face is the best. Unfortunately it is also expensive. Perhaps regular training on a computer
using service users at the training, to enhance and improve the standard. ie let a blind person come to a 
training session with their dog and talk the drivers through their experience of getting a taxi.
Any methods should be considered as people learn better in different ways.
The Council may wish to consider a model whereby applicants are provided with access to training 
material online, to be reviewed at their own pace and in their own time. The accredited training 
provider(s) can then conduct an assessment of the applicant’s understanding of that content in a 
controlled environment at the training provider’s facility.  As part of this approach we would also 
recommend that the training provider has the ability to submit DBS and DVLA checks on behalf of the 
applicant, and to verify the applicant’s DBS identity documentation. These activities could be undertaken 
at the training provider’s premises as the applicant attends for their assessment - streamlining the licence 
application process and reducing the number of touchpoints the applicant has with the Council.  We 
suggest that the licensing process could therefore progress as follows:  Step 1: Applicant access guidance 
on applying for a Private Hire Driver’s Licence on the Leeds City Council website, including eligibility criteria 
and on-line training materials that the applicant will need to study to prepare for their assessment Step 2: 
The applicant is able to apply for an appointment online at one of the council’s approved training providers 
Step 3: The applicant attends their appointment at the approved training provider where:  - They complete 
the Leeds City Council private hire driver’s licence application form (ideally this should be available on-line)  
- They are assessed to confirm their understanding of the online training material  - Assuming they pass the 
assessment, they complete their DBS and DVLA applications whilst the training provider verifies their 
identification documents  - They are provided with a Group 2 Medical Assessment form to be completed 
by the appropriate medical practitioner Step 4: Once the DBS / DVLA checks have been completed and the 
Medical Assessment has been undertaken, the applicant visits Leeds City Council with the relevant 
documentation and licence fee to have their photograph taken, conclude right to work in the UK checks 
and collect their badge (with a separate step to arrange a vehicle inspection if they are also a vehicle 
proprietor)
The recommendation that can be made which adds significant value to the delivery and potentially could 
supersede all of the individual components and will bring all of the different training aspects is the VRQ for 
the Taxi industry, a couple of the occupational units as listed below and our SEAT award that we have 
developed here at Antrec. The VRQ can be delivered to individuals who are wanting to become a taxi 

Page 51



driver and individuals whom are already a taxi driver for their continuous professional development.   For 
those that are unemployed they can access funding via the Skills Funding Agency (SFA) – this could 
potentially incorporate some additional support from the training provider whom is delivering the 
qualification. A provider that work with Uber at present are currently offering up to £165 support to the 
unemployed learners to help with Medicals, DBS and cost of taxi licensing.   Those learners that are 
currently employed via an SME or Sole Trader / Self Employed status could access Skills Support for the 
Workforce (or other suitable government provision) to undertake the training which should also be of 0 
cost to the individual.   High Level Unit information is below:- B-TEC Level 2 Introduction to the role of the 
Private Hire Driver 1. Health and safety in the taxi and private hire work environment – Online Test 2. Road 
safety when driving passengers in a taxi or private hire vehicle – Online Test 3. Professional customer 
service in the taxi and private hire industry – Online Test 4)    Taxi and private hire vehicle maintenance and 
safety inspections – Online Test 5)    The regulatory framework of the taxi and private hire industry – 
Online Test 6)    Taxi and private hire services for passengers who require assistance – Observation and 
Report 7)    Routes and fares in the taxi and private hire vehicle industries – Online Test 8)    Transporting of 
parcels, luggage and other items in the taxi and private hire industries – Online Test 9)    Transporting of 
children and young persons by taxi or private hire vehicle – Online Test   The training delivery would be 
classroom based and testing methods are stated besides each of the unit titles.
Classroom discussions and activites
Face to face to encourage understanding and diversity training. To help improve politeness and general 
customer care.
This should be optional... However computer based is good however not all people are computer literate 
so a choice should be available
face to face seems to be more effective from my experience, then follow up shorter, computer based 
refreshers annually or as often as needed
Very probably a mix of these but the key issues are that the process is streamlined, more cost effective to 
the service and the trade, has a high level of reassurance and enables the more prepared and professional 
candidate to access a licence much more quickly whilst never losing sight of the integrity issues.   It is 
important that the service provider can demonstrate all of these benefits with built in integrity as a key 
component.

Q12 comments:
All training should be tested to prove understanding and ability to apply the training
The test is there to ensure drivers understanf what they have learned.
If a person does not pass they should not be licensed. If the training is not something that the trade need 
to know/do then it shoulnt be in the training. 'Testing' is the only way to check understanding.
All should be tested. Failures should not allow licence renewal until passed
All should be tested to maintain high standards
not really because the test we do to get our bedge is enough
All training must have a pass or re-sit test

The English and maths test the especially  the new course  regarding  the young people  awareness  as a 
driver there is to many flaws with the current  contractors everything should be within each council as 
what happened in Sheffield  with those young girls should not happen anywhere in the country  and I 
personally  believe  from the police to all other bodies included should be blamed if this ever happened
There should be just awareness courses with out exams
English, Local knowledge (Tested ) and customer care ( Awareness ).
Law, conditions, geography, literacy should all be pass/ fail.  Safeguarding/ customer care - awareness with 
on the job experience/ examples.

Page 52



You MUST have some base level below which it is deemed as inappropriate for a person to undertake a 
task. This is the only way that standards can not only be maintained but increased. We in Fleet Services try 
to explain that the drivers of Taxi and Private Hire vehicles are as bigger part of the tourism and economic 
infrastructure of the city as anything else. They are in many cases the first and last contact a visitor has 
with the city and it's people, facilities and commerce. It is therefore paramount that these people are left 
with a positive attitude to the city. The work of TPHL is a huge step towards arriving at this and so should 
focus on the improvement of driver standards and behaviour.
I think all aspects of driver training should be tested. I think all the current tests should be re-examined and 
made more through and detailed and varied.  Bring the LearnDirect modules back in house ESPECIALLY and 
make the English test harder. You HAVE to be able to communicate with your customers. Situations can 
quickly get out of hand if there is no communication.    I also think penalties should be more severe. 
Everyone can relate an incident where a taxi-driver has made a scary and unsafe manoeuvre in front of 
them. Also enforcement officers - there should be a LOT more not only for customer protection but also 
driver protection too.
All drivers who have a disabled taxi should be trained up on how to secure mobility equipment so it 
doesn't move and we don't get hurt, I've had 2 accidents due to drivers not taking care of our equipment 
and it not falling on us
It would be positive to include diversity issues on the training.
Private hire drivers should be able to use bus lanes
mystery shopping!! have people score drivers
Being able to understand and appropriately deal with vulnerable demographics is something that should 
be vital, along with road safety.
Most of the training
Knowledge, customer care and private hire navigation should be tested.
Safeguarding, disabilities awareness, as awareness rest as test.
the licensing staff should be tested and the information on how to apy to be a taxi driver needs to be 
clearer giving step by step instruction, that does not appear to be clear right now.
Handling difficult conversations / situations
It should all be tested with a pass or fail. Taxi drivers work with members of the public, people who may be 
vulnerable or children. Why should there not be strict testing? I believe a thorough testing system would 
make drivers take their jobs more seriously and actually have a sense of achievement and professionalism. 
Things need to change.
I have looked at this from a disability perspective and know that there are other issues out there too.  I 
have already stated that this aspect of testing should be hands on not online/paper test only.  Failing 
should be a re-sit of the same.  It is also then the responsibility of the owners of taxi companies to 
maintain standards and initiate driver awareness days etc for key aspects of the job.
Drivers should be tested on local knowledge - some of the ones I've met or seen driving would fail for 
certain.
They should be tested on everything.
I suppose it depends on whether there are any other consequences.  If no consequences and the training is 
making no difference then it really begs the questions whether there is any point in doing it!
Language and numeracy and attitude!
all aspects should be tested.
1, all drivers should meet a minimum standard, in order to be accredited and they should pass all aspects 
of the training before being fully qualified.
This is not straightforward. Exclusive reliance on testing can mitigate against inclusive recruitment. 
However on balance, I would say include in a test if we value the learning enough and think its important 
drivers can demonstrate they know it.  Having something that isn't tested alongside what is inevitably 
reduces importance - I don't know what is currently "for awareness" but it is likely to be relegated to  
'optional' in someone's mind set.

Page 53



There should be a test for all of it. Taxi drivers reflect our city to both the people of Leeds and to visitors. 
Their driving standards and standards of customer care should be the highest that they can possibly be. A 
taxi driver is a recognised professoinal driver, representing the city and as such there should be tests on 
their driving ability, road safety awareness and driving behavoiur around other road users as well as their 
customer care abilities.
vehicle standard i.e. tyres, oil, water levels and lights. Being aware of current legislation
Customer service Person skills
This will depend on the delivery model that is selected. If the Council decides to provide access to all 
training content online for applicants to self-study (and we believe that this would be the most efficient 
delivery approach), then the Council may need to consider a basic assessment in each area to confirm that 
the applicant has indeed reviewed the relevant material.

This should be dictated by a national/ regional standard - but all awareness training should be portfolio 
based and internally verified by a qualifications specialist to ensure the validity, accuracy and currency of 
the training. This will ensure that all training delivered is achieving at least the minimum quality standards'.
Certainly any aspect of the training that covers disability discrimination, touting  and inappropriateness 
should be tested.
All of the training should be tested and especially speaking English and safeguarding awareness.
It should all be awareness only  in my opinion...personally i hate tests and have nighmares prior to any test
I think awareness is a starting point for drivers and there could possibly be some greater clarity after 
Members have had the opportunity to sit through a modular approach (which is what happened last time) 
prior to the final proposals going to Licensing Committee.   In reality, it would be difficult and time 
consuming to test on every aspect of training . If there was later found to be deficiency in any drivers 
knowledge, understanding or application they could be referred for more specific training.

Page 54



LICENSING COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18 - LAST UPDATED 23/06/17 (JG)

Key: 
RP – Review of existing policy DP – Development of new policy PM – Performance management B – Briefings SC – Statutory consultation

ITEM DESCRIPTION Officer TYPE OF ITEM

Meeting date:    4th July 2017  

Vehicle Licensing 
Conditions – 
Consistency Across the 
West Yorkshire and York 
Region

To receive a report by the Head of Elections, Licensing and Registration 
which provides an update on Vehicle Licensing Conditions – Consistency 
Across the West Yorkshire and York Region

A White B

Training Review – Taxi 
and Private Hire 
Licensing

To receive a report by the Head of Elections, Licensing and Registration 
which sets out details of the Training Review – Taxi and Private Hire 
Licensing

A White B

Applications Seeking 
Electric Vehicle 
Purchase Funding - 
Update

To receive a report by the Director of Environments and Housing which 
provides an update on the applications seeking electric vehicle purchasing 
funding

Andrew Hickford B

Meeting date:  1st August  2017

Leeds Festival 2017 - 
Event Management 
Plan 

S Holder B

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 11



LICENSING COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18 - LAST UPDATED 23/06/17 (JG)

Key: 
RP – Review of existing policy DP – Development of new policy PM – Performance management B – Briefings SC – Statutory consultation

ITEM DESCRIPTION Officer TYPE OF ITEM

Meeting date:    5th September 2017  

Policing and the Night 
Time Economy

To receive a Presentation from Sergeant Dave Shaw, West Yorkshire 
Police on the issues of “Policing and the Night Time Economy”

D Shaw B

Evening and Night Time 
Economy (6 Month 
Update)

To receive a report by the Head of Elections, Licensing and Registration 
which provides an update on Evening and Night Time Economy 

 
N. Raper B

Meeting date:    Wednesday 4th October 2017  

P
age 56



LICENSING COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18 - LAST UPDATED 23/06/17 (JG)

Key: 
RP – Review of existing policy DP – Development of new policy PM – Performance management B – Briefings SC – Statutory consultation

ITEM DESCRIPTION Officer TYPE OF ITEM

Meeting date:    7th November 2017  

Update/ monitoring 
report on the Victoria 
Gate Casino 

To receive a report by the Head of Elections, Licensing and Registration 
which provides an update / monitoring report on the Victoria Gate 
Casino

N Raper B

Meeting date:    5th December 2017  

Meeting date:    9th January 2018  

P
age 57



LICENSING COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18 - LAST UPDATED 23/06/17 (JG)

Key: 
RP – Review of existing policy DP – Development of new policy PM – Performance management B – Briefings SC – Statutory consultation

ITEM DESCRIPTION Officer TYPE OF ITEM

Meeting date:    6th February 2018  

LA03 Statement of 
Licensing Policy 
Consultation 

To receive a report by the Head of Elections, Licensing and Registration 
which sets out the consultation arrangements for the LA03 Statement of 
Licensing Policy

S Holden SC

Meeting date:    6th March 2018  

Meeting date:    3rd April 2018  

P
age 58



LICENSING COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18 - LAST UPDATED 23/06/17 (JG)

Key: 
RP – Review of existing policy DP – Development of new policy PM – Performance management B – Briefings SC – Statutory consultation

ITEM DESCRIPTION Officer TYPE OF ITEM

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	8 OLEV Grants for Electric Vehicle Charge Points
	9 Proposed Project to Harmonise Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle and Driver Conditions across West Yorkshire
	10 Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Training Review - Responses to Consultation
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 3

	11 Licensing Committee Work Programme

